Lindenwood University

# Digital Commons@Lindenwood University

Dissertations

**Theses & Dissertations** 

Fall 12-2015

# A Study of the Regular Educators' Preparedness to Educate Students with Autism Spectrum Disorder

Tammy Rhodes Lindenwood University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lindenwood.edu/dissertations

Part of the Educational Assessment, Evaluation, and Research Commons

### **Recommended Citation**

Rhodes, Tammy, "A Study of the Regular Educators' Preparedness to Educate Students with Autism Spectrum Disorder" (2015). *Dissertations*. 353. https://digitalcommons.lindenwood.edu/dissertations/353

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses & Dissertations at Digital Commons@Lindenwood University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons@Lindenwood University. For more information, please contact phuffman@lindenwood.edu.

# A Study of the Regular Educators' Preparedness to Educate

Students with Autism Spectrum Disorder

by

Tammy Rhodes

December 2015

A Dissertation submitted to the Education Faculty of Lindenwood University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education

School of Education

A Study of the Regular Educators' Preparedness to Educate

Students with Autism Spectrum Disorder

by

# Tammy Rhodes

This Dissertation has been approved as partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education

Lindenwood University, School of Education

Dr. Shelly Fransen, Dissertation Chair

Dr. Sherry DeVore ommittee Member

Dr. Robyn Gordon, Committee Member

12-9-15 Date

2-9-Date

Date

## Declaration of Originality

I do hereby declare and attest to the fact that this is an original study based solely upon my own scholarly work at Lindenwood University and that I have not submitted it for any other college or university course or degree.

Full Legal Name: Your Full Name as it Appears in University Records

Signature: Jamy Rhocla Date: 12-9-15

#### Acknowledgements

First, I want to thank Dr. Sherry DeVore, Dr. Shelly Fransen, and Dr. Robyn Gordon for serving on my dissertation committee. I am also sincerely grateful for Dr. Shelly Fransen for assisting me with the final stages of the dissertation process. To my friends who supported me through this endeavor, thank you. A big thank you to my husband, Bill, who listened to all of my moaning and groaning and supported me with prayers and comfort. Now we can take a scuba diving trip. Finally, thank you to my heavenly Father. Thank you for continuously reminding me I can do all things if I put my trust in you. To Garrett, you are a blessing from God, and you need to remember you can be anything you want to be if you work hard and trust in God.

#### Abstract

This study's focus was on determining the level of knowledge K-5 educators have in one district regarding evidence-based practices that address the specific needs of students with Autism Spectrum Disorder [ASD]. The study also focused on determining what kind of inclusion task force had been established in the district, if any. Based on the findings of this study, all of the participating K-5 regular educators reported they have established a supportive culture/climate, have organized and defined work areas, use routines, regularly collect data, are flexible with curriculum, and group students based on needs. This study also revealed slightly over half of the K-5 educators conduct observations outside of their classrooms, maintain and shift the attention of students, and can teach attention to a task. Most of the K-5 regular educators also receive administrative support and are provided collaboration opportunities. Additional information revealed slightly less than half of the K-5 regular educators reported they can teach imitation. The data regarding the ability to teach communication and social skills were contradicting, and most educators reported an inclusion task force had not been established. Overall, it was determined K-5 regular educators need professional development in the area of core skills important for students with ASD.

| Abstract                                               | iii |
|--------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| List of Tables                                         | vii |
| List of Figures                                        | ix  |
| Chapter One: Introduction                              | 1   |
| Background of the Study                                | 2   |
| Theoretical Framework                                  | 4   |
| Statement of the Problem                               | 7   |
| Purpose of the Study                                   | 9   |
| Research Questions                                     | 10  |
| Definitions of Key Terms                               | 11  |
| Limitations and Assumptions                            | 11  |
| Significance of the Study                              | 13  |
| Summary                                                | 13  |
| Chapter Two: Review of Literature                      | 15  |
| History and Future of Inclusion                        | 16  |
| Benefits of Inclusion                                  | 21  |
| Resistance to Inclusion                                |     |
| Features of Successful Inclusion for Students with ASD | 23  |
| Unique Characteristics of Students with ASD            | 33  |
| Universal Design for Learning                          |     |
| Importance of Teacher Efficacy                         | 41  |
| Professional Development                               | 43  |

## **Table of Contents**

| Summary                                                 | .46 |
|---------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| Chapter Three: Methodology                              | .48 |
| Problem and Purpose Overview                            | .49 |
| Research Questions                                      | .50 |
| Research Design                                         | .50 |
| Population and Sample                                   | 52  |
| Instrumentation                                         | 53  |
| Data Collection                                         | 54  |
| Data Analysis                                           | .56 |
| Ethical Considerations                                  | 58  |
| Summary                                                 | .58 |
| Chapter Four: Analysis of Data                          | 60  |
| Descriptive Analysis of Quantitative Data               | 61  |
| Perceived Challenges-Descriptive Data                   | .81 |
| Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory-Descriptive Data      | 83  |
| Criteria for Curriculum Implementation-Descriptive Data | .86 |
| Summary                                                 | .88 |
| Chapter Five: Summary and Conclusions                   | .90 |
| Summary of Findings                                     | .92 |
| Limitations of the Findings1                            | .06 |
| Conclusions1                                            | 07  |
| Implications for Practice1                              | 10  |
| Recommendations for Future Research1                    | 12  |

| Summary    | 113 |
|------------|-----|
| Appendix A | 115 |
| Appendix B |     |
| Appendix C |     |
| Appendix D | 124 |
| References | 126 |
| Vita       | 140 |

# List of Tables

| Table 1. Descriptive Statistics of Demographic Information                          | 63  |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Supportive     |     |
| Culture/Climate                                                                     | .65 |
| Table 3. Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Structured     |     |
| Environment                                                                         | .66 |
| Table 4. Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Individualized |     |
| Programming                                                                         | .69 |
| Table 5. Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Survey Question 34, Evidence-Based  |     |
| Practices                                                                           | 70  |
| Table 6. Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Ongoing        |     |
| Assessments                                                                         | .72 |
| Table 7. Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Supports       |     |
| and Collaboration                                                                   | .73 |
| Table 8. Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Professional   |     |
| Development                                                                         | 75  |
| Table 9. Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Flexible       |     |
| Curriculum                                                                          | .80 |
| Table 10. Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 2, Established   |     |
| Task Force                                                                          | 81  |
| Table 11. Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Survey Question 20, Biggest        |     |
| Challenge                                                                           | 83  |

| Table 12. Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Survey Questions 24, 25, 26, and |     |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| 28, Bandura                                                                       | .86 |
| Table 13. Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Survey Question 32,              |     |
| Recommended Curriculum                                                            | .87 |

# List of Figures

| <i>Figure 1</i> . Principles of the UDL framework                               | 39          |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------|
| Figure 2. Descriptive statistics of responses to research survey question 31, p | rofessional |
| development                                                                     | 76          |

#### **Chapter One: Introduction**

The United States has nearly one in 88 children identified with Autism Spectrum Disorder [ASD] each year (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2012). Today students with ASD are occupying regular education classrooms and have diverse needs (Busby, Ingram, Bowron, Oliver, & Lyons, 2012). With the passage of the Individuals with Disabilities Act and the No Child Left Behind Act, emphasis has been placed on teacher quality and instructing students with disabilities using evidence-based teaching methods (Whitmer, 2013).

Although there is an emphasis on teacher quality, regular educators are unqualified to adequately educate students with ASD, which is becoming an issue for districts across the United States (Busby et al., 2012). To add to the challenges, a traditional method of teaching does not meet the needs of students with ASD (Kaweski, 2011). Grandin and Panek (2013) stated, "Putting kids who are on the spectrum in the same classroom as their nonautistic peers and treating them the same way is a mistake" (pp. 182-183). With the unique challenges students with ASD present, traditional teaching methods do not work (Kaweski).

In Chapter One, ASD and inclusive education are discussed. Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory is offered to help explain the rationale behind the importance of effective training for regular education teachers. The absence of research available regarding the preparedness of regular educators to serve students with ASD is discussed, along with the research questions and definitions that guided this study. Last, limitations and assumptions are addressed.

#### **Background of the Study**

Autism Spectrum Disorder is the number one rapidly growing developmental disability in the United States (Autism Speaks, Inc., 2013). Within a six-year span, the number of school-age students identified with ASD increased by 78% (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2012). Several factors contributed to the growth, including the change in the criteria to include a wide spectrum, increased awareness, and environmental factors (Hanbury, 2012). Additionally, in 1990 with an amendment to the Education for All Handicapped Children Act, autism was added as a special education category (Ryan, Hughes, Katsiyannis, McDaniel, & Sprinkle, 2011).

According to the mental health profession and the fifth edition of the *Diagnostic* and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, an individual must have deficits in social communication and exhibit repetitive behaviors, interests, or activities to meet the criteria for an ASD diagnosis (Kent et al., 2013). Barton and Harn (2012) explained autism is "a neurobiological developmental disorder, which means it is caused by disorders or impairments in the brain or central nervous system" (p. 5). The exhibited impairments can affect the abilities to focus, understand abstract concepts, follow multiple-step directions, and adjust to routine changes; and can affect motor, sensory, and communication abilities (Kaweski, 2011). The impaired capabilities present in individuals with ASD can also produce behaviors which can be challenging and extremely disruptive (Ryan et al., 2011).

Kaweski (2011) reported the behaviors and characteristics displayed by individuals with ASD are varying in degree. There is a variance because every autistic brain develops differently, which triggers distinctive abnormalities (Grandin & Panek, 2013). The variance in characteristics is also attributed to medical complications, language impairments, and cognitive range (Marder & Debettencourt, 2012). With the degree of characteristics and symptoms, students with ASD can exhibit sensory, social, behavioral, communication, and cognitive challenges that are mild to severe (Kaweski).

Districts are moving toward an inclusive model of education as the population of students with ASD continues to grow (Sansosti & Sansosti, 2012). Within an inclusive classroom, the regular education teacher teaches students with ASD alongside non-disabled peers (Hill & Sukbunpant, 2013). Sansosti and Sansosti recommended inclusion that is flexible, variable, and contingent upon the specific needs of the students. Although there is an emphasis on an inclusive model, regular educators continue to be unprepared to adequately educate students with ASD (Busby et al., 2012). The recognized challenges revealed in students with ASD can be overwhelming for teachers who believe they are unprepared to address the specific needs these students present (Busby et al.). When teachers experience overwhelming feelings of inadequacy, lack of motivation and confidence is revealed (Dixon, Yssel, McConnell, & Hardin, 2014).

One reason regular educators are unprepared is because teacher education programs are not providing courses for instructing students with ASD (Hendricks, 2011). The current courses are restricted and do not address the specific needs students with ASD present (Busby et al., 2012). Most education programs at the collegiate level require entry-level courses covering various disabilities, and no specialized training in evidencebased practices occurs (Busby et al.). Additionally, school districts are having a difficult time providing the specialized training necessary to address the challenges displayed by students with ASD due to the costs and time involved (Whitmer, 2013). Numerous studies have established the main factor contributing to a student's success is the efficacy of the teacher (Winters, 2012). Smith (2015) stated, "Successful inclusion relies on teacher self-efficacy and positive educator attitudes toward inclusion" (p. 11). According to Ahmad (2011), teacher efficacy involves teaching efficacy, or one's capability, and personal efficacy, or one's self-assurance. In other words, teacher efficacy is dependent upon the teacher's perception of his or her ability and the belief students are teachable regardless of backgrounds or disabilities (Ahmad).

With inclusion as an option for students with ASD, it is imperative to identify the knowledge and understandings regular education teachers exhibit regarding best practices to address the specific needs of these students (Busby et al., 2012). Smith (2015) noted it is the teacher who decides what instructional approaches are utilized in the classroom to address the specific needs of students. When regular education teachers have a limited understanding of evidence-based practices to address the needs of students with ASD, resistance and fear emerge, which affect motivation, effort, and the quality of education provided (Sansosti & Sansosti, 2012). Without the motivation and effort to use best practices when educating students with ASD, improved outcomes will not transpire (Kaweski, 2011).

### **Theoretical Framework**

For this study, Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory of self-efficacy assisted in framing the importance of the preparedness of regular education teachers to implement quality curriculum for students with ASD (Bandura, 1977). Personal self-efficacy, as defined by Bandura (1995), is one's "beliefs in one's capabilities to organize and execute the course of action required to manage perspective situations" (p. 2). A solid sense of self-efficacy is the foundation for facing difficulties and challenges encountered with teaching (Stephanou, Gkavras, & Doulkeridou, 2013). Bandura (1995) maintained there is a link between confidence and belief in one's capabilities and motivation, actions, and emotional states. Teachers who decide they are not knowledgeable will lack confidence and will abandon efforts to educate based on learner needs (Dixon et al., 2014). High self-efficacy produces confidence and influences instruction, which positively affects student achievement (Bordelon, Phillips, Parkison, Thomas, & Howell, 2012). According to Bandura (1995), humans regulate their efficacy beliefs through four selection processes.

First, cognitively, when making decisions, individuals are visionary thinkers (Bandura, 1997). Therefore, the actions applied and the goals set are influenced by one's perception of his or her capabilities and perceived positive or negative outcomes (Bandura, 1997). With a high level of confidence and self-efficacy, an individual is cognitively able to organize his or her thoughts visually to anticipate scenarios, predict outcomes, and construct successful problem-solving techniques (Bandura, 1995). This ability to cognitively analyze and problem solve leads to intrinsic motivation, which fosters sustained effort, persistence, and task completion (Ohtani, Okada, Ito, & Nakaya, 2013). Those with a low sense of self-efficacy, however, think erratically and visualize failure, which leads to self-handicapping conditions, lack of persistence, and work avoidance (Ohtani et al.). Bandura (1977) emphasized one's cognitive processes affect confidence and one's self-efficacy beliefs, which in turn, influence decisions and actions initiated. Through cognitive forethought, an individual's motivation increases or decreases depending on preconceived beliefs (Bandura, 1997). One's beliefs, as clarified by Vera, LeBlanc, Taris, and Salanova (2014), "determine not only the amount of effort invested in facing obstacles, but also the amount of time and persistence in trying to achieve something" (p. 133). These preconceived self-efficacy beliefs also influence one's affective state or stress level, which is a third selection process (Bandura, 1995). With a low sense of self-efficacy, anxiety increases, challenging situations are magnified, and depression manifests itself, which affects how one utilizes available resources (Vera et al.). Last, an individual's self-efficacy beliefs also affect the selection process, or the activities in which one chooses to participate (Bandura, 1997). With a high sense of self-efficacy, one pursues challenging activities rather than avoiding tasks that exceed capabilities (Vera et al.).

Positive self-efficacy beliefs are important for persistent motivation and because regular educators recognize they lack the skills to effectively teach students with ASD (Busby et al., 2012). Regular educators view the job of educating students with ASD as the special educator's responsibility (Busby et al.). Without adequate skills, regular educators are resistant and often have stereotypical feelings toward these students (Sansosti & Sansosti, 2012). They characterize students with ASD as individuals with unusual interests, disruptive behaviors, repetitive manners, and language deficits (Darretxe & Sepulveda, 2011). Busby et al. indicated professional development and onthe-job training could promote positive self-efficacy beliefs in educators working with ASD students. Higginson and Chatfield (2012) found after vicarious experiences, regular educators were more accepting of students with ASD, were willing to modify curriculum to meet specific needs, and were more confident. The educators understood there were legitimate reasons for the observed behaviors rather than seeing the students with ASD as problematic (Higginson & Chatfield). Confidence increases through knowledge, which in turn increases the self-efficacy of the teacher, and the student has an increased chance of being positively impacted (Dierking & Fox, 2013).

Although regular educators believe they are inadequately trained, educating individuals with ASD in the least restrictive setting is a legal requirement (Busby et al., 2012). The Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act mandated specialized instruction in the least restrictive placement (Whitmer, 2013). Research suggests inclusion fosters engagement and social interaction in students with ASD, while self-contained classrooms increase autistic characteristics (Kaweski, 2011). With the benefits of and laws requiring inclusive placements, regular educators must understand they are responsible for educating students with ASD rather than believing it is impossible because of inadequate skills (Busby et al.). In Chapter Two, teacher selfefficacy beliefs will be revisited to further investigate the effect on quality curriculum implementation.

#### **Statement of the Problem**

Educating students with disabilities in inclusive settings continues to increase because of federal laws requiring integration into the regular education classroom to the greatest extent possible (Whitmer, 2013). Educators know they are improperly trained in the specialized skills needed to successfully educate students with ASD (Busby et al., 2012). Teachers who believe they lack the competence to bring forth positive changes in student achievement will have little motivation to persist in a difficult situation (Iftikhar, 2011). According to Sansosti and Sansosti (2012), "Constant reworking and persistence are defining characteristics of effective inclusion on both an individual and system level" (p. 927). When inadequate practices are utilized, time is lost and the window for providing evidence-based instruction closes for those individuals diagnosed with ASD (Hill, Martin, & Nelson-Head, 2011).

Sansosti and Sansosti (2012) reported inadequate training as the greatest obstacle to successfully including an autistic student in the regular classroom setting. Training is a must, because students with ASD often have significant deficits and challenges; therefore, qualified educators are crucial (Smith, 2015). When inclusion is executed with fidelity, studies have shown an increase in communication and social skills among students with ASD (Alquraini & Gut, 2012). Additionally, Higginson and Chatfield (2012) found training increased knowledge, and the regular educator's attitude towards students with ASD changed to become more tolerant and accepting.

In 2009, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization published *Policy Guidelines on Inclusion in Education*. The National Council for Special Education published their Annual Report in 2011. Both frameworks attempted to provide a guide for strengthening inclusion programs in schools. Although there have been attempts to provide frameworks for effective inclusive education, in 2013, Costley emphasized the need for training and recommended schools "develop a School Site Inclusion Task Force made up of teachers and administrators that will aid in increasing awareness and discussion of including children with disabilities into the general classroom" (p. 4). Nishimura (2014) also reported the need for effective training in evidence-based practices and suggested training and support should be a priority. Although regular educators know they lack the training to successfully educate students with ASD, and research supports the need for training, states are unable to focus on inclusion because there are other priorities (Ahsan & Mullick, 2013). A culture of inclusion is additionally difficult because segregated schooling has a long history and not all regular educators believe inclusion is valuable (Nishimura, 2014). Inclusive efforts have also been challenging because one-shot professional development methods have not worked (Nishimura). Inclusion for students with ASD will continue to move forward due to laws supporting least restrictive education for all; however, regular educators continue to have insufficient skills and know they are inadequately trained to effectively educate students with ASD (Ahsan & Mullick).

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The following researchers all suggested regular educators are unprepared to effectively educate students with ASD: Busby et al. (2012), Hendricks (2011), and Sansosti and Sansosti (2012). However, there is a gap in research in regard to the specific knowledge regular educators' exhibit concerning evidence-based practices for successfully educating these students. Factors associated with successful inclusion include effective instructional practices, administrative support, and training for educators (Alquraini & Gut, 2012). Researching the regular educator's knowledge of evidence-based practices and guidelines for inclusive instruction will allow for a better understanding of the type and amount of professional development needed for school districts to successfully educate students with ASD.

The purpose of this study was to determine the level of knowledge and understanding K-5 regular educators have regarding evidence-based practices to address the specific needs of students with ASD. The extent of training received by the regular educators was also examined. Further focus was placed on determining whether the urban school district represented in this study has an established a task force for inclusion.

The percentage of students with disabilities educated in inclusive settings continues to rise (Alquraini & Gut, 2012). School districts must take the initiative to implement inclusive practices and provide effective training (Costley, 2013). The data gathered could provide information to K-5 environments regarding the expertise of regular educators and the amount of training required to successfully educate students with ASD.

## **Research Questions**

The following research questions guided the study:

1. What knowledge and understanding of best practices do K-5 regular education teachers exhibit to address the individual needs of students with ASD in the following areas:

- Supportive culture/climate
- Structured environment
- Individualized programming
- Ongoing assessments
- Supports and collaboration
- Professional development
- Flexible curriculum
- 2. What kind of task force for inclusion, if any, has been established?

## **Definitions of Key Terms**

For the purposes of this study, the following terms are defined:

**Evidence-based practices**. Research indicates the use of evidence-based practices increases student performance (Torres, Farley, & Cook, 2012). According to Cook and Odom (2013), practices that are evidence-based "must be supported by multiple, high-quality, experimental or quasi-experimental (often including single-case research) studies demonstrating that the practice has a meaningful impact on consumer (e.g., student outcomes)" (p. 136). Evidence-based practices offer specific guidelines to assist with improving student skill level (Torres et al.).

Inclusion education. Inclusion education should be implemented in a manner where sufficient support is provided to allow for continual participation in class activities (Allen & Cowdery, 2012). Allen and Cowdery explained inclusion education occurs when "children with disabilities are full-time members of the general education classroom" (p. 5). According to Angelides, Savva, and Hajisoteriou (2012), inclusion should be implemented in a manner in which everyone is heard and procedures are followed.

#### **Limitations and Assumptions**

The following limitations were identified in this study:

1. This study focused on the preparedness of regular educators and on the administrative support provided within one urban school district in Missouri.

2. A survey including Likert scale items was used as a measurement tool to conduct this study. In using a Likert scale, the purpose is to measure the respondent's ratings across several items; as a result, response bias may occur (Rubie-Davies & Hattie,

2012). This is true because an individual's characteristics and interests can affect the responses chosen (Rubie-Davies & Hattie). Additionally, open-ended questions were utilized to determine themes within the data. With open-ended questions, an explanation of the performance or responses cannot be obtained (Adams & Lawrence, 2015).

3. With surveys distributed at the beginning of the school year, it is understandable every K-5 regular educator approached for this research did not participate. Additionally, this study only included five schools within one urban school district in Missouri positioned at the four extreme directional locations (north, south, east, and west) and one centrally located.

The following assumptions were accepted:

1. The design and approach to inclusion education varies across districts. The growth of inclusion has academically and socially impacted educators, students with ASD, and typical peers (Ferraioli & Harris, 2011). Although inclusion is widespread, because of leadership, there is a variance in design and approach (Obiakor, Harris, Mutua, Rotatori, & Algozzine, 2012). Leaders are often inconsistent in creating inclusive settings where effective teaching is prominent, funding and resources are provided, and professional development is implemented on a regular basis (Obiakor et al.).

2. Training regular educators to be effective in teaching students with ASD varies in quality and quantity. Busby et al. (2012) claimed, "Many general educators have only taken survey courses in exceptionalities and therefore have little specialized training in the field of autism" (p. 28). The amount and type of specialized training received is also dependent upon leadership support, collaboration between the special and regular educator, and resources provided, which vary across districts (Obiakor et al., 2012).

Additionally, due to the increase of students with ASD and the push for inclusion, the number of regular educators educating these students continues to grow (Busby et al.). Professional development can also be challenging because of the number of regular educators and their range of abilities and preparedness (Obiakor et al.).

#### Significance of the Study

According to the U.S. Department of Education (2013), 34% of students with ASD spend at least 60% of the time inside the regular classroom setting. Additionally, the number of students with ASD educated in inclusive settings is continuing to rise (Hart & Malian, 2013). Even though the number of students with ASD educated in inclusive settings is rapidly growing, there is little research regarding the preparedness of regular educators (Busby et al., 2012). With the responsibility shifting to the regular educator, according to Busby et al., further research needs to be conducted to determine how prepared regular educators are for teaching students with ASD.

With the lack of research regarding the regular educator's knowledge and ability concerning evidence-based practices that address the individual needs of the student with ASD, this study will provide important data on the regular educator's ability and knowledge within one urban school district in Missouri. The study will also provide information regarding the areas of professional development needed and the types and amount of professional development and support currently provided by the school district.

#### Summary

Although regular educators lack the necessary training to adequately educate students with ASD, including these students in the regular classroom setting continues to

be the norm (Sansosti & Sansosti, 2012). Delmolino and Harris (2011) argued, "The complex and varied presentation of ASD requires specialized training and expertise, which may not occur within standard training in regular and special education" (p. 1200). According to Gulec-Aslan (2013), "Qualified and competent educators play an important role in skill development and quality of life" (p. 2229). Since regular educators are now responsible for the education of students with ASD, information regarding the regular educator's specific knowledge of curriculum that addresses the unique needs of these students is required in order to plan for necessary training (Busby et al., 2012).

In Chapter One the introduction for this study was offered, which included background information on the characteristics and growth of ASD. The theoretical framework established the importance of effective training for regular education teachers. The significance of the study was offered to show the need for researching the specific knowledge and training regular educators have in teaching students with ASD. Last, unknown terms were defined, and the research questions, limitations, and assumptions were addressed.

In Chapter Two, the review of literature includes an overview of the history and benefits of inclusion and the reasons for resistance to inclusion. The features of a successful inclusion program, along with the characteristics of students with ASD, are also reviewed. Universal Design for Learning and Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory are presented as a foundation for individualizing curriculum and to support the need for teacher preparedness. Finally, the importance of quality, effective professional development is examined.

#### **Chapter Two: Review of Literature**

Individualized instruction and education in the mainstream is a popular movement in public education for students with ASD due to legislation mandating a least restrictive setting (Marder & Debettencourt, 2012). With the mandates requiring a least restrictive environment, the estimated percentage of students with ASD spending at least 80% of their day in the regular classroom increased overall by 244% during the period from 1992 to 2006 (Denning & Moody, 2013). While inclusion looks different for every student, according to Odom, Buysse, and Soukakou (2011), "Certain critical child outcomes of belonging, participating, and forming positive social relationships reflect success of inclusive placements for children with disabilities" (p. 347). Obiakor et al. (2012) reported, "Preferred, appropriate, and effective inclusive practices are guided by state and federal legislation, directed by codes of ethical and professional conduct, and defined by principles of effective instruction that are not bound by the setting in which children are taught" (p. 479). In the past, the learner has had to acclimate to the system; however, with the current inclusive push, the education system must accommodate the learner (Ahsan & Mullick, 2013).

Sansosti and Sansosti (2012) noted the potential of inclusion to accelerate the development of skills and create new social environments for students with ASD. Even though the school setting is the primary treatment center for students with ASD, there are few guidelines for properly educating these students (Magyar & Pandolfi, 2012). McCulloch and Martin's (2011) study focused on the few standards established for educators working with ASD students.

According to McCulloch and Martin (2011), Virginia and California are currently providing training and requiring teachers to be competent in teaching students with ASD. Additionally, California is requiring the completion of courses in evidence-based strategies for both new and veteran teachers with teaching assignments dependent upon the completion of the courses (McCulloch & Martin). Although the number of students with ASD placed in inclusive settings is continuously increasing, a marginal amount of research has been conducted to determine the knowledge regular educators have regarding inclusion and evidence-based practices and the amount of support and training provided by leadership (Hendricks, 2011). Hendricks stressed the need for determining who is teaching students with ASD and the teachers' abilities.

In Chapter Two, the history and benefits of inclusion, along with the reasons for resistance to inclusion, are examined. An examination of quality inclusive settings and a framework for accommodating for learner differences are also presented. The importance of knowing and understanding the characteristics of ASD is addressed. Last, Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory provides a framework for this study and is reviewed, along with the characteristics of successful professional development.

#### **History and Future of Inclusion**

Today, inclusive education is the choice program for students with disabilities (Ahsan & Mullick, 2013). Even though inclusion is popular today, Ahsan and Mullick reported, "The journey towards inclusive education [IE] began in 1948, when the UN declared the right to education for all in Article 26 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights" (p. 151). Equal educational rights for students with disabilities again received a lot of attention with the 1954 case of *Brown v. Board of Education* (Obiakor et al., 2012). However, it was not until The Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1974 that mandates were initiated to educate students with disabilities in the least restrictive environments (Whitmer, 2013).

With the passage of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act of 1990 and its reauthorizations, inclusion has become the focus even though the term is not included in the law (Obiakor et al., 2012). It was not until the early 1990s that inclusion became a recognized term within the field of education (Odom et al., 2011). Odom et al. reported:

The change in terminology was pushed in part by the philosophy that inclusion would mean more than only physical placement of children with disabilities in the same classroom, but rather it conveyed that children with disabilities would become a part of larger social, community, and societal systems. (p. 345)

The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 further encouraged inclusion by placing an emphasis on student success and the requirement of proficiency in academics before the year 2014 (Lamport, Graves, & Ward, 2012). In 2004, when the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act was reauthorized, inclusion became the preferred option for students with both minimal and severe disabilities (Cameron & Cook, 2013). With the laws placing emphasis on academic achievement in the least restrictive environment, the growth of inclusion is continuing, and individuals with ASD are participating in the regular classroom setting to the fullest extent possible regardless of the severity of the disorder (Odom et al.).

Since the passage of The Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1974, several policies have been initiated attempting to define and promote inclusion (Ahsan &

17

Mullick, 2013). According to Ahsan and Mullick, these polices were established because of the diverse needs of students and include the following:

... the Convention on the Rights of the Child (UN 1989), the World Declaration of Education for All (UNESC 1990), the Salamanca Statement and Framework of Action (UNESC 1994), the Dakar Framework for Action (UNESC 2000), and the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UN Enable 2008). (pp. 151-152)

As mentioned earlier, the mandates for inclusion have swung the responsibility pendulum, and the regular educator is now responsible for educating students with mild to severe disabilities, instead of the special educator (Cameron & Cook, 2013). Cameron and Cook reported:

Inclusive classroom teachers today are faced with the challenging tasks of determining (a) which aspects of the general education curriculum are appropriate for which students; (b) how and when to provide instruction in the general education curriculum to different students; and (c) how and when to address the

Regular educators will continue to be faced with the above challenges due to the requirement of state assessments and the laws mandating least restrictive environment (Lamport et al., 2012).

functional, behavioral, and social goals of their included students. (p. 18)

Guidelines for inclusion education needed to be established due to the mandates of least restrictive environment. In 2011, The National Council for Special Education presented the *Inclusive Education Framework: A Guide for Schools on the Inclusion of Pupils with Special Education Needs*, which included criteria for curriculum implementation in inclusive settings. According to the National Council for Special Education:

First, Teaching is planned, differentiated and informed by whole-school planning to enable pupils with special educational needs to access the curriculum in a meaningful manner.... Second, Teaching periods are well prepared with a range of evidence-based teaching methods, approaches and materials employed to enhance learning opportunities for pupils with special educational needs.... Third, Lesson content is differentiated to accommodate specific needs and abilities of pupils with special educational needs and is appropriate to age, ability and required outcomes.... Fourth, Classroom groups are flexible, temporary and generally organized on a mixed ability basis according to criteria such as learning preference, strengths, interests and cooperative learning principles. A clear rationale is made when using fixed ability grouping.... Fifth, Objectives and expectations are outlined at the start of lessons and learning outcomes are summed up at the end.... Sixth, Teaching periods are suitably challenging and enjoyable to the greatest possible degree. (p. 39)

The National Council for Special Education (2011) understood curriculum planning and implementation for inclusion must include the differentiation of content, process, and outcome and should be supervised by leadership.

Differentiation is necessary within inclusive settings because of the differences students exhibit (Darrow, 2015). Tomlinson (2014) defined content as "what teachers want students to learn from a particular segment of study, or the materials or mechanisms

through which students gain access to the important information" (p. 18). The content communicated should be developed around the important knowledge, understanding, and skills of the subject being taught (Tomlinson). Multiple materials and various media resources should also be varied when presenting content (Darrow). The second fundamental component of differentiation is process (Tomlinson). Process, as defined by Tomlinson, includes "activities designed to ensure that students use skills to make sense of, apply, and transfer essential knowledge and understandings" (p. 18). Process is accurately addressed when teachers guide and support students to make interest-based choices and when multi-option assignments are utilized (Watts-Taffe et al., 2012). The last component of differentiation is product, which is defined by Tomlinson as "vehicles through which students demonstrate and extend what they have learned" (p. 18). The grading process, according to Tomlinson, "reflects student performance, work process, and growth" (p. 24). In addition, the student's needs and interests should be reflected in the product presented (Watts-Taffe et al.).

In looking to the future of inclusion, the recommendation is for a complete culture change that is accepting of and values students who have disabilities and differences (Braunsteiner & Mariano-Lapidus, 2014). The change would be in focusing on the individual rather than the disability or deficit (Grandin & Panek, 2013). With this change, segregating students with special needs will be a thing of the past (Braunsteiner & Mariano-Lapidus). Additionally, to foster this culture change, Braunsteiner and Mariano-Lapidus proposed the need for additional training at the collegiate level and the employment of educators with disabilities and diverse backgrounds.

### **Benefits of Inclusion**

Keeping students with ASD segregated encourages unwanted behaviors, and autistic characteristics are intensified (Kaweski, 2011). In the study conducted by Sansosti and Sansosti (2012), social regression was noted when a student with ASD was placed in a segregated summer program after receiving instruction in an inclusive setting. The general classroom does support students with ASD by offering social, academic, and communication benefits (Sansosti & Sansosti). With a supportive general education environment where social interaction is encouraged and interventions are implemented, students with ASD can build relationships with same-aged peers (Ferraioli & Harris, 2011). Through modeling and positive peer pressure, individuals with ASD show "increases in frequency of social initiations and responses, increased social engagement, increases in verbal and non-verbal sharing, and enhanced skills in the acquisition of emotion and preference expression" (Ferraioli & Harris, p. 23). In other words, through positive peer pressure, the student with ASD can learn socially appropriate behavior (Sansosti & Sansosti).

Inclusion to the maximum extent possible also offers more advanced educational goals (Kaweski, 2011). With increased access to the regular classroom setting, the student with ASD has a greater opportunity for grade-level instruction and academics that are more challenging, which increases the chance of skills being developed at a quicker pace (Sansosti & Sansosti, 2012). The regular classroom setting also provides increased opportunity for authentic educational strategies that are personally meaningful (Ruppar, 2013). Cooperative learning is one example of an authentic experience, which encourages

engagement, social skills, and motivation (Ferraioli & Harris, 2011). There is also a greater opportunity for a more rigorous education when instruction and academics are challenging (Braunsteiner & Mariano-Lapidus, 2014).

Research indicates individuals with ASD often have communication deficits (Bland-Stewart, Townsend, Ortega, & Stewart, 2013). Nonverbal skills such as reading facial expressions, understanding tone differences, and interpreting different stances can be challenging for students with ASD and lead to misinterpretation of the intended information (Ganz, 2014). Since individuals with ASD struggle with inference and interpreting literal language, social language is often difficult (Lubetsky, Handen, & McGonigle, 2011). Additionally, higher functioning ASD students with strong verbal skills may dominate conversations with a preferred topic, which can make two-way communication a struggle (Lubetsky et al.).

Language proficiency is important for social functioning (Lubetsky et al., 2011). Lubetsky et al. noted the ability to effectively communicate affects social interaction positively or negatively. According to Ruppar (2013), communication skills can be naturally developed through activities such as "greeting peers in the hallway, writing a journal entry, following directions during physical education or music class, and choosing a book to read during sustained silent reading" (p. 45). It is through natural situations with peers in a regular classroom setting students with disabilities learn to generalize skills to multiple environments (Ruppar).

#### **Resistance to Inclusion**

Braunsteiner and Mariano-Lapidus (2014) reported the narrow understanding of inclusion by education professionals is one reason there is resistance to inclusion.

Braunsteiner and Mariano-Lapidus also noted barriers can be reduced and acceptance can be increased if educators understand inclusion is full participation and involvement in the whole culture of the school without limitations, rather than just education with nondisabled peers. Braunsteiner and Mariano-Lapidus noted, "Perhaps we can shift the perception that diversity is a drain on resources to the view that differences is an asset in creating a rich and dynamic school environment" (p. 37). Another factor contributing to the resistance to inclusion is the regular educator's feeling of inadequacy (Busby et al., 2012). According to Hendricks (2011), regular educators believe they need to be knowledgeable in a range of strategies to address the scope of difficulties exhibited by students with ASD. The perception students with ASD have severe, complex behavior issues that are disruptive to the classroom environment is another reason there is resistance to inclusion (Busby et al.). Regular educators have a tendency to believe traditional methods for reducing behavior and teaching academics do not work for students with ASD (Kaweski, 2011). Educators are also resistant because of the assumption of limited resources, the belief collaboration is time consuming, and the perception students with disabilities take time away from other students (Braunsteiner & Mariano-Lapidus).

#### Features of Successful Inclusion for Students with ASD

Although inclusion is popular for students with all types of disabilities, inclusion for students with ASD must be designed differently (Sansosti and Sansosti, 2012). Grandin and Panek (2013) emphasized a student with ASD cannot be treated like everyone else, because segregation and isolation within the classroom will occur. Additionally, Denning and Moody (2013) stressed students with ASD have unique needs, and teaching academics is not enough. The following practices were noted throughout research as meeting the needs of students with ASD in inclusive settings.

Supportive culture and environment. According to Kaweski (2011), healthy development cannot occur without a culture supportive and respectful of diversity. Within a supportive culture, all students are supported naturally and unobtrusively (Denning & Moody, 2013). Teachers have high expectations and believe all students can be successful regardless of disabilities or challenges (Cameron & Cook, 2013). In a supportive culture, students have worth, and their unique gifts are celebrated (Barton & Harn, 2012). Rather than differences being feared, they are accepted (Braunsteiner & Mariano-Lapidus, 2014). In a classroom that is supportive, positive relationships are nurtured and encouraged with students feeling a sense of belonging and having the chance to participate meaningfully (Odom et al., 2011).

**Structured environment.** For students with ASD, learning and understanding occurs with structure and consistency (Hanbury, 2012). Darretxe and Sepulveda (2011) reported, "Unpredictable, improvised physical surroundings confuse persons with Asperger syndrome; therefore, organization and structured settings are fundamental" (p. 880). The physical organization of the classroom, according to Hanbury, should include clearly defined areas for specific purposes and functions. To ensure the purpose is defined, the work areas should be labeled with pictures, words, or symbols (Hanbury). With clearly defined work areas where distractions are minimal, expectations are realized, understanding is encouraged, and unexpected changes are avoided (Darretxe & Sepulveda).
Reducing distractions is also essential because of the potential for overstimulation (Hanbury, 2012). By keeping the classroom clutter-free, the physical environment will appear calm and inviting (Palm, 2012). This involves reducing both auditory and visual distractions (Hanbury). The distractions and overabundance of stimuli can cause discomfort and anxiety, which in turn, can trigger unwanted behaviors in students with ASD (Kaweski, 2011).

Consistent routines and procedures are also characteristics of a structured environment (Denning & Moody, 2013). Routines, according to Hanbury (2012), "define the day for the child through a series of predictable markers or milestones, that is, activities which always occur at the same time, in the same place, in the same way" (p. 58). Barton and Harn (2012) noted, "Children with autism often prefer consistency and routine in their lives and benefit from having predictability and routines throughout the day" (p. 146). Routines need to be established and communicated to the student with ASD, which can be accomplished through words, pictures, or symbols (Hanbury). Consistent practices and methods should also be a part of the everyday classroom routine to increase work completion and reduce anxiety (Barton & Harn).

Individualized programming. A quality inclusive program, according to Odom et al. (2011), customizes educational practices to ensure each student achieves all accessible goals. Interventions and instruction for students with ASD should be flexible, and practices should be tailored to address the social, communication, and behavioral weaknesses prevalent in students with ASD (Dieker, 2013). According to Barton and Harn (2012), core content for students with ASD "includes skills related to learning, development, and independent functioning" (p. 96). The core skills that are essential for students with ASD and should be fostered in inclusive settings are as follows: "(1) the ability to attend to relevant environmental stimuli, (2) imitation, (3) joint attention, (4) communication (using receptive and expressive language), (5) the ability to participate in daily routines and classroom activities (e.g., including play with toys), and (6) social skills" (Barton & Harn, p. 96). These deficits, according to Kaweski (2011), should be addressed within natural settings for the interventions to be effective.

*Attention to relevant stimuli.* The ability to focus on important information requires concentration and the recognition of social and environmental cues (Barton & Harn, 2012). With the inability to focus attention, attending to a task or multiple tasks and switching from one task to another is difficult (Darretxe & Sepulveda, 2011). By simplifying the teaching steps, as in discrete trial teaching, attention to relevant stimuli can be improved (Ryan et al., 2011). Teaching with sequential pictures, social stories, and using visual cues or diagrams can also be beneficial in assisting a student with ASD to attend to environmental stimuli (Darretxe & Sepulveda). Additional prompts involving physical proximity, hand-over-hand encouragement, or verbal prompting are also beneficial aids in redirecting and focusing attention (Barton & Harn).

*Imitation.* Imitation, another core skill that needs to be taught to students with ASD, is the ability to duplicate the actions, gestures, and sounds or words of others (Lowry, 2014). According to Ingersoll (2012), imitation is a skill obtained during the early childhood years and is important for social development. It is developed through interactions with the primary caregiver and peers (Lowry). Along with social development, Lowry reported imitation is critical for language development and joint attention.

Imitation is an essential skill because it is necessary for the acquirement of new skills, for showing empathy, and for ensuring regular behavior (Barton & Harn, 2012). When teaching imitation, Ingersoll (2012) recommended Reciprocal Imitation Training [RIT]. Ingersoll defined RIT as "a blend of naturalistic behavioral and developmental strategies to teach imitation within a social-interactive context" (p. 2). Prompting, according to Lowry (2014), is another popular method for teaching imitation. Barton and Harn noted, "Prompts give the child clues about how to perform the behavior and varying levels of assistance on how to perform it" (p. 129). For a better outcome, Lowry suggested combining prompting with positive reinforcement. Regardless of the teaching method, students with ASD should be taught imitation because it opens the door for learning to occur naturally within the student's environment (Barton & Harn).

*Joint attention.* The curriculum for students with ASD should also include the teaching of joint attention (Barton & Harn, 2012). Barton and Harn defined joint attention as "the nonverbal behaviors we use to request, comment, show, or share affect" (p. 12). Despite the intellectual or developmental level of the student with ASD, there will be impaired joint attention (Schietecatte, Roeyers, & Warreyn, 2012). Joint attention is communicative and social in nature, and without joint attention, an individual is unable to attend to an object or activity with a peer, point to indicate interest, or follow the eye movements of others (Barton & Harn).

When implementing interventions to improve joint attention, the interventions should revolve around the student's interests to increase the effectiveness (Kryzak & Jones, 2014). Prompt fading with positive reinforcement is an additional strategy that can improve joint attention in students with ASD (Kryzak & Jones). Prompt fading is the systematic fading of prompts until the skill is completed independently (Barton & Harn, 2012). Prompt fading is more successful, according to Barton and Harn, when initiated within the natural setting and when temporary.

*Receptive and expressive communication.* Hanbury (2012) emphasized the need to identify, support, and develop the child's preferred communication method. Hanbury reported, "Impairments in communication place the child with autism in an alien world which is confusing, frightening and unintelligible" (p. 17). Communication difficulties include the inability to understand spoken language, express needs and wants, understand figurative language and humor, interpret voice tone, and receive and express information in an understandable manner (Hanbury). Kurt (2011) noted communication affects cognition, academics, social skills, and behavior and must be developed and supported in the classroom setting.

Although there are many ways to develop communication skills, providing multiple opportunities for communication is the most effective method for teaching communication to students with ASD (Koegel, Matos-Fredeen, Lang, & Koegel, 2011). By using incidental teaching throughout the school day, the environment is continually manipulated to motivate the student with ASD to initiate dialogue (Barton & Harn, 2012). For example, the environment can be manipulated during snack or play time to require the student with ASD to request the preferred snack or toy (Koegel et al.). This strategy encourages the use of language by connecting the activity to the child's interests and preferences (Barton & Harn). A second way to use incidental teaching throughout the school day is to offer choices and require a response (Koegel et al.). Another commonly used method for teaching communication skills to students with ASD is Discrete Trial Teaching [DTT] (Kurt, 2011). With DTT, the educator focuses the student's attention, administers the antecedent to elicit a response, and offers a reinforcement to encourage the desired behavior (Donaldson & Stahmer, 2014). In the study completed by Kurt, receptive language skills improved when DTT was utilized along with gestures, signs, and verbal instruction. Hanbury (2012) also suggested using visuals, music, and consistent vocabulary to reduce the communication barriers prevalent within the classroom setting. Additionally, teachers must be direct, concrete, and literal for the student with ASD to comprehend language (Hanbury).

*Participation in daily routines and classroom activities.* To develop communication, social, and academic skills in students with ASD, the ability to independently participate in routines and classroom activities is a must (Barton & Harn, 2012). Since individuals with ASD often have strong visual skills, creating workstations with visually clear objectives and expectations will assist with fostering independence and task completion (Hanbury, 2012). To further promote engagement and task completion, predictable routines should be established and consistently maintained (Denning & Moody, 2013). Schedules should also be utilized to inform the student of upcoming activities, to assist with switching from one task to another, and to provide warnings of change (Denning & Moody). Hanbury noted, "Schedules compensate for the problems children with autism face in spanning and sequencing time and are designed to enable the child to predict events and structure their day" (p. 85). Additionally, to reduce distractions and increase engagement, the physical organization of the classroom should

also be restructured to reduce any visual and auditory stimuli that may distract the student with ASD (Hanbury).

*Social skills.* An inclusive setting has proven to be very beneficial for teaching social skills and is a core skill that must be integrated into the curriculum for students with ASD (Lamport et al., 2012). Social skills are interpersonal responses with another individual that have a positive impact (Bondy & Weiss, 2013). Deficits in social interaction are prevalent in individuals with ASD at a young age and continue throughout the developmental stages (Bondy & Weiss). Individuals with ASD who have limited social skills may have difficulty understanding a social setting and interpreting body language and facial expressions (Hanbury, 2012). Engaging with peers and adults is also difficult, because the rules for social interaction are often unknown and the feelings of others are not recognized (Hanbury). Other common social deficits include difficulty beginning and maintaining a conversation, trouble with imitation, inability to turn take, and obsession with a single topic (Bondy & Weiss). With inadequate social skills, behavior problems may increase and the opportunity for appropriate peer interaction is reduced (Bondy & Weiss).

By observing typically developing peers and adults within an inclusive setting, individuals with ASD can learn to imitate appropriate social interactions (Lamport et al., 2012). Additionally, according to Koegel et al. (2011), "Some intervention strategies with potential to be effective and efficient in inclusive classroom settings include priming, self-management, script-fading, peer-mediated interventions, and organizing social activities involving the interests of the student with ASD" (p. 4). Priming involves teaching the social activity before participation occurs in the natural setting (Koegel et al.). Self-management strategies, as defined by Bondy and Weiss (2013), "are focused techniques that improve the social behavior of children with autism by having the individual keep a count of the number of times that he or she engages in the desired behavior or outcome" (p. 62). Script-fading, an additional strategy that assists with increasing social skills, involves the use of written, pictorial, or oral scripts as an example for appropriate social communication (Bondy & Weiss). As social communication improves, the script is slowly removed, so social independence can occur (Koegel et al.). Peer-mediation occurs within a natural setting and involves training peers to teach appropriate social interaction to classmates who have ASD (Bondy & Weiss). Last, since individuals with ASD often have perseverative interests, peer interaction can be encouraged in the classroom through the use of activities that relate to the specific interests of students with ASD (Koegel et al.).

**Ongoing assessments.** Individualized, meaningful instruction cannot occur without comprehensive assessments (Koegel et al., 2011). Koegel et al. explained standardized testing is beneficial; however, "criterion-based or observation-based assessments conducted within natural environments often provide additional useful information" (p. 6). According to Magyar and Pandolfi (2012), observation-based assessments should reveal the learning and behavioral characteristics of the individual, should evaluate the students' responses to intervention, and should uncover possible interventions for reducing symptoms.

Since ASD is a neurodevelopmental disorder, assessments should be ongoing, conducted within various settings, and both formative and summative in nature, because change occurs over time and within different settings (Magyar & Pandolfi, 2012). Meyer, Rose, and Gordon (2014) reported, "Ongoing formative assessments provide a comprehensive picture of student's performance, measuring not only their scores at one point in time, but also the evolution of their learning" (p. 74). Ongoing assessments "also provide teachers with a window into the efficacy of instruction, enabling them to make adjustments to keep students on track toward instructional goals" (Meyer et al., p. 74). Along with formally evaluating cognitive functioning, communication skills, behavioral symptoms, and adaptive skills, interviews with key individuals, video recordings, review of records, and observations over a period of time are also beneficial to the assessment process (Hanbury, 2012). By thoroughly assessing a student, the educator can understand what is being learned and how it is being learned (Meyer et al.). The employment of ongoing assessments also allows teachers to monitor progress, so evidence-based supports can be initiated and restructured to ensure quality education is occurring (Koegel et al., 2011).

**Supports and collaboration.** Support for educators teaching students with ASD has to begin at the administrative level (Odom et al., 2011). The administrator is a key player in successfully including a student with ASD into the regular classroom (Alquraini & Gut, 2012). As the leader of the school environment, administrators can facilitate collaboration among professional team members, assist in collecting data, provide emotional care, and offer problem-solving strategies (Alquraini & Gut). Administrators can also be supportive by providing opportunities for educators to observe peers who are having success in educating students with ASD (Dixon et al., 2014).

Collaboration and preparation times are also necessary supports for a successful inclusion program (Odom et al., 2011). Since there are usually many educators involved

in educating students with ASD, collaboration is absolutely necessary to ensure individualized instruction occurs (Alquraini & Gut, 2012). The group of educators needing collaboration time will include a variety of people with particular specialties depending upon the needs of the student (Barton & Harn, 2012). Collaboration is successful when goals and objectives are established and when experiences of success and failure are shared among team members (Alquraini & Gut). Through collaboration, intervention plans can easily be developed and monitored (Barton & Harn). Shared collaboration time also provides opportunity for academic preparation and for emotional support and encouragement (Mueller & Brewer, 2013).

## **Unique Characteristics of Students with ASD**

To begin to address the individual needs of students with ASD within inclusive settings, the characteristics associated with the disorder have to be understood (Constable, Grossi, Moniz, & Ryan, 2013). Hanbury (2012) reported, "For the practitioner to make a positive contribution to the learning of the child with autism, it is necessary to develop an understanding of the child which is rooted in the nature of the condition" (p. 16). By understanding the characteristics of ASD, the teacher is able to effectively differentiate instruction, which increases the probability of a high-quality education (Odom et al., 2011).

According to Darretxe and Sepulveda (2011), there are three psychological theories that explain the characteristics and difficulties individuals with ASD display. Theory of Mind, which when lacking is also known as mind-blindness, impairs one's social interactions to the extreme (Hoddenbach et al., 2012). It is the ability to recognize and understand the thought patterns and feelings of others (Hoddenbach et al.). Without theory of mind, nonverbal cues are overlooked or misinterpreted, and the thoughts, feelings, intentions, and motives of others are not recognized (McGuire & Michalko, 2011). The absence of theory of mind can also affect comprehension and narrative writing, since the perceptions of characters in texts and books are not easily understood (Constable et al., 2013). Social isolation is also likely if the culture of the classroom does not support social interaction naturally (Koegel et al., 2011).

The inability to see the big picture when details are presented, which is known as a weak central coherence, is another characteristic students with ASD often present (Constable et al., 2013). As Grandin and Panek (2013) noted, individuals with ASD "can't see the forest for the trees" (p. 120). Primarily the focus is on details and present facts; as a result, drawing conclusions and making connections between the present and past are compromised (Nuske & Bavin, 2011). Academically, an individual with a weak central coherence can struggle to understand the author's purpose or use context clues when reading texts to answer higher-order questions (Nuske & Bavin). Comprehension is often challenging, since texts are read with the same mindset, and important and unimportant parts are not recognized as being different (Constable et al.). While a weak central coherence can affect social communication and comprehension, seeing details can be a strength for pattern recognition (Grandin & Panek).

The third potential impairment to students with ASD is executive functioning (Darretxe & Sepulveda, 2011). Hanbury (2012) defined executive functioning as "the mechanism which enables us to move our attention flexibly and easily from one activity or object to another" (p. 10). Executive functioning involves higher-order thinking and enables an individual to regulate behavior, focus memory, prioritize, organize, and plan (O'Bryant et al., 2011). Individuals with proper executive functioning can initiate and attend to a task, switch from one task to another, and update background information as needed (Rosenthal et al., 2013). A good working memory and the ability to sequence and set goals are also characteristics of proper executive functioning (Roebers, Cimeli, Rothlisberger, & Neuenschwander, 2012). Without flexible thinking and organization skills, imitation is difficult, which makes learning new information challenging (Barton & Harn, 2012). Other challenges include understanding assignment expectations, completing assignments in a timely manner, and submitting the assignments (Denning & Moody, 2013). While individuals with ASD have poor short-term memory and have difficulty sequencing and multitasking, remembering details long-term is a strength (Grandin & Panek, 2013).

While the above psychological theories explain impairments in communication, social understanding, and imagination, students with ASD also have a difficult time processing sensory information (Hanbury, 2012). Kaweski (2011) stated, "Students with autism struggle to organize and interpret incoming sensory information in meaningful ways and lack the natural ability to 'modulate' (alter the intensity) or filter out unwanted sound, light, touch and taste" (p. 20). Individuals with ASD can be sensory seeking, or they can be over-or under-responsive to unsolicited sensations (Grandin & Panek, 2013). Students who seek sensory input cannot get enough of the sensations like loud noises or deep pressure (Grandin & Panek). This often leads to inattention and the inability to focus or sit still when someone is directly speaking to the student with ASD (Hanbury). Outwardly, the student might rock, twirl objects, flap their hands, or make noise (Grandin & Panek).

When an individual is over-responsive to sensory stimuli, he or she is receiving too much input, and a certain smell, noise, or clothing type is overwhelming (Grandin & Panek, 2013). While individuals with ASD can be over-responsive, they can also show little or no response to incoming input (Kaweski, 2011). With sensory underresponsiveness, students with ASD might not answer to their names, or they may have a high tolerance to pain (Grandin & Panek).

While the five senses provide a means to interpret and communicate with the world, if the brain interprets the sensory information differently, as is often true with individuals with ASD, then an alternate reality is possible (Grandin & Panek, 2013). Hanbury (2012) reported, "Forming relationships, remaining safe in a chaotic environment and learning in the rich and varied stimulus of the modern classroom are all severely compromised by the inability to process sensory input effectively and consistently" (p. 11). These communication, social, imagination, and sensory challenges displayed by students with ASD often cause anxiety and generate challenging behaviors (Kaweski, 2011). These challenging behaviors can impede learning, are disruptive, and are the main reasons students with ASD are excluded from the regular classroom setting (Strain, Wilson, & Dunlap, 2011). Challenging behaviors that can impede learning are noncompliance, physical aggression, tantrums, and self-stimulating movements or performances (Gulec-Aslan, 2013). Since the behaviors exhibited can be disruptive to the learning environment, it is imperative teachers have the skills and understanding to address the behavior issues (Strain et al.). This encompasses knowledge of applied behavior analysis, functional behavioral evaluations, modifications within the

environment, and an understanding of how and when to employ reinforcers and consequences (Strain et al.).

Along with the above weaknesses, individuals with ASD also have hidden potentials or strengths (Eveleth, 2011). These strengths, according to Grandin and Panek (2013), should be recognized and defined for each student with ASD. One of the strengths is the ability to recognize patterns (Eveleth). This group of individuals are referred to as pattern thinkers; they excel in determining how parts fit together and in seeing relationships (Grandin & Panek). Because they are able to understand the reasoning behind the function, pattern thinkers are usually good at music and math (Grandin & Panek).

The ability to see details is often considered a weakness for students with ASD; however, seeing details can also be a strength (Grandin & Panek, 2013). By identifying specific details, an individual with ASD is quickly able to recognize inconsistencies within written or oral presentations (Eveleth, 2011). Detail-oriented students with ASD, according to Grandin and Panek, are word-fact thinkers. Besides being detail-oriented, word-fact thinkers have strong opinions and are able to quote statistics and dialogue, so writing should be encouraged (Grandin & Panek).

Last, individuals with ASD can also be picture thinkers (Grandin & Panek, 2013). Picture thinkers prefer hands-on activities, and they enjoy construction and building sets (Grandin & Panek). These students are creative and want to create original work (Grandin & Panek). Eveleth (2011) emphasized the need to recognize the talents students with ASD have instead of focusing on the deficits, so students with ASD can be successful and happy.

## **Universal Design for Learning**

Since inclusive education is becoming the norm, more and more students with diverse needs, including those with ASD, are included in the regular classroom, and Universal Design for Learning (UDL) provides a frame of reference for customizing curriculum and instruction that ensures all students are actively participating (Rose & Meyer, 2002). During the first part of the 1990s, CAST, a development and research group, started UDL to address and eliminate barriers within the classroom (Meyer et al., 2014). The consensus was students did not need to overcome barriers in the classroom, but it was the classroom that needed to eliminate barriers (Meyer et al.). Hall, Meyer, and Rose (2012) argued, "The UDL approach focuses on curricular 'disabilities,' because it is the curriculum that cannot meet the learning needs of all students and needs to be fixed" (p. 11). One size does not fit all when speaking about curriculum (Hall et al.).

To ensure all students have equal access to the curriculum and the opportunity to reach elevated standards, three core principles were established as part of the UDL framework (Meyer et al., 2014). These include multiple means of engagement, multiple means of representation, and multiple means of action and expression (Meyer et al.). This framework offers teachers some practical solutions that are helpful in deconstructing some of the barriers presented in the classroom (Hall et al., 2012). The purpose of UDL is "to provide guidance, not prescriptions, for inclusive classroom practice" (Hall et al., p. 10). McGhie-Richmond and Sung (2013) explained UDL acknowledges diversity and expects it; therefore, the UDL framework is designed to support teachers in proactively planning for diversity. By implementing the principles of UDL, all students can become active learners (He, 2014). This is a proven framework, according to Rose and Meyer (2002), because UDL is "based on two decades of research into the nature of learning differences and the design of supportive learning environment" (p. 2). The underpinning of UDL is based on the recognition, strategic, and affective brain networks, which are important for learning (Rose & Meyer). When a classroom teacher understands the three brain networks, individualized instruction and teaching is easier, according to Rose and Meyer.

| Principles of the UDL Framework |                                                                                                     |
|---------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Principle 1:                    | To support recognition learning, provide multiple, flexible methods of presentation.                |
| Principle 2:                    | To support strategic learning, provide multiple, flexible methods of expression and apprenticeship. |
| Principle 3:                    | To support affective learning, provide multiple, flexible options for engagement.                   |

*Figure 1*. Principles of the UDL framework. Adapted from *Teaching Every Student in the Digital Age: Universal Design for Learning*, by D. Rose and A. Meyer, 2002. Copyright 2002 by the Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

The first principle of the model, multiple means of presentation or representation, supports the recognition network (Hall et al., 2012). This is "how information is perceived and comprehended" (Hall et al., p. 12). Since comprehension and perception are different among individual learners, multiple mediums of representation are important (Hall et al.). By presenting information in a variety of ways, the educator is able to address variability in prior knowledge, accommodate for the inability to see patterns, and support the integration of new knowledge (Meyer et al., 2014). Educators can address variability by presenting information using multiple media, visual and auditory illustrations, and vocabulary scaffolding strategies (Hall et al.). Organization tools such as graphic organizers and visuals are also useful for supporting the recognition network in students with ASD (Denning & Moody, 2013). Denning and Moody noted organizers and visuals encourage independence and work completion among students with ASD. By presenting material through various examples that tap into all the senses, learning is increased (Rose & Meyer, 2002).

The second principle of UDL, multiple means of action and expression, supports the brain network of strategic learning (Hall et al., 2012). This principle involves allowing students to express their knowledge in different ways (Denning & Moody, 2013). Hall et al. explained it is "a proactive and expressive endeavor requiring skills in strategy, organization, and communication" (p. 16). By applying the second principle of UDL, the educator opens the door for students to express their learning through multiple means rather than only through written or oral presentations (Hall et al.). For students with ASD, providing structured assignments, scaffolding assignments, using rubrics, and providing task options supports the second UDL principle (Denning & Moody).

The last principle of UDL, multiple means of engagement, supports the brain network of affective learning (Rose & Meyer, 2002). This principle involves getting and maintaining the attention of the learner through hooks that are interesting, authentic, and challenging (Hall et al., 2012). Applying this principle also encourages effort, persistence, and self-regulation, which are indicators of a life-long learner (Hall et al.). For a student with ASD, engagement is increased when schedules and routines are utilized and lessons and activities are designed according to the student's specific interests (Denning & Moody, 2013).

### **Importance of Teacher Efficacy**

Customizing instruction is important for students with ASD, and an environment conducive to learning and cognitive development are highly dependent upon the teacher's self-efficacy (Dimopoulou, 2012). According to Liu (2013), the following three meanings define teacher efficacy: "whether a teacher believes that he or she can teach well, whether a teacher believes that he or she can teach well, whether a teacher believes that he or she can achieve the teaching goals" (p. 79). According to Tschannen-Moran, Wolfolk Hoy, and Hoy (1998), if the teacher believes he or she is capable of arranging and executing a successful plan, then teacher efficacy is high.

Teaching students with ASD within an environment where there are a variety of students with various needs is a huge task, which requires persistence and confidence (Hendricks, 2011). Dimopoulou (2012) reported, "Perceived self-efficacy influences the level of goal challenge people set for themselves, the amount of effort they mobilize, and their persistence in the face of difficulties" (p. 513). The teacher is more committed to teaching to the individual learner, will utilize new teaching methods, and will differentiate instruction to meet learner needs when the educator has belief in his or her abilities (Dixon et al., 2014). With a strong belief in one's own instructional capabilities, effective classroom strategies are implemented and the classroom environment is more positive (Dicke et al., 2014). Teachers with a strong self-efficacy also tend to be more supportive, less critical, and willing to open lines of communication (Liu, 2013).

Bandura noted the following four sources contribute to higher self-efficacy: mastery experience, vicarious experiences, verbal persuasion, and physiological activity (Holzberger, Philipp, & Kunter, 2013). However, according to Dicke et al. (2014), the main resource that assists educators in overcoming obstacles and challenges in the classroom is a positive personal belief in their own abilities. When a teacher does not believe he or she can competently teach the massive amount of content required to the average student, differentiating a lesson for students with special needs could be perceived as impossible (Dixon et al., 2014). Although differentiating instruction for students with diverse needs is challenging, teachers can be successful if there is strong efficacy in regard to personal and teaching abilities (Dixon et al.).

Mastery or successful experiences, according to Bandura, are the most influential way to create strong feelings of self-efficacy and to build confidence (Bandura, 1995). Mastery experiences are authentic experiences in which one acquires "the cognitive, behavioral, and self-regulatory tools for creating and executing appropriate courses of action to manage ever-changing life circumstances" (Bandura, 1995, p. 3). While repeated failure hinders the growth of self-efficacy, student success fosters positive efficacy beliefs (Bordelon et al., 2012). As the success of a teacher grows through mastery experiences, so does the teacher's confidence (Dierking & Fox, 2013). Confidence increases through knowledge, which in turn, increases the self-efficacy of the teacher, and the student has an increased chance of being positively impacted (Dierking & Fox).

Confidence and self-efficacy also increase through vicarious experiences or by observing the success of peers with similar attributes (Bandura, 1997). According to

Bandura (1997), by observing the successful experiences of others, one is able to visualize successfully mastering similar activities (Bandura, 1997). The third source that influences self-efficacy beliefs and confidence is verbal persuasion (Bandura, 1997). When individuals are persuaded verbally and placed in situations where failure is unlikely, then self-efficacy beliefs increase (Bandura, 1995). The last source that increases confidence and influences self-efficacy beliefs, according to Bandura (1977), is physiological and affective states. This source is a reliance on one's emotions and feelings to predict success or failure (Bandura, 1977). When there is a capable perception, the task demands are less challenging, which increases confidence and one's self-efficacy beliefs (Bandura, 1997). Consequently, the opposite occurs with an incapable perception (Bandura, 1997). According to Ahmad (2011), humans will not persevere in their endeavors unless there is confidence desired results can be produced.

#### **Professional Development**

When teaching students with ASD in an inclusive setting, educators must be flexible and consistent, and specialized instruction must occur (Odom et al., 2011). The effectiveness of specialized instruction is dependent upon the regular educator's fidelity (Strain & Bovey, 2011). Regular educators, however, believe they do not have the skills to effectively address the needs of students with ASD (Busby et al., 2012).

Without perceived capabilities, the teacher's personal self-efficacy is lowered, which affects the educator's ability to implement the required supports with fidelity, so students with ASD can reach their full potential (Dimopoulou, 2012). Without evidencebased supports, students with ASD can become socially isolated, be ridiculed, experience lowered self-esteem, and be challenged by academics (Kaweski, 2011). In the study completed by Higginson and Chatfield (2012), regular educators were more confident in their abilities to educate students with ASD and accepting of the students when professional development was provided. Additionally, Mueller and Brewer (2013) found educators believed professional development assisted in improving student outcomes. Since the obstacles for educators of individuals with ASD appear to be more challenging due to unavailable resources, extensive workloads, and excessive paperwork, professional development is a must to ensure positive belief in one's abilities (Dicke et al., 2014).

Professional development is an opportunity to distribute current information about proven methods and evidence-based curriculum (Barton & Harn, 2012). Barton and Harn stated professional development "is the ongoing training teachers receive once they are working out in the field" (p. 272). This training for teachers of students with ASD must focus on the disorder, differentiated instruction, the characteristics of an effective learning environment, assessment strategies, evidence-based practices, and behavioral supports (Hendricks, 2011). Professional development is necessary and must be provided, according to Barton and Harn, for the improvement of the teacher's capabilities.

Dixon et al. (2014) stressed professional development must be viewed as a process or journey. In other words, it must be ongoing and long-term (Higginson & Chatfield, 2012). Although professional development is necessary, Barton and Harn (2012) emphasized traditional methods consisting of one-time training sessions are ineffective because there is usually no follow-up. Additionally, with one-time training sessions, only a basic understanding of the concept occurs, which often does not improve instructional competencies (Dixon et al.). Barton and Harn proposed using coaching and consultation paired with professional development sessions to assist with improving the teacher's ability to implement evidence-based strategies.

Consultation is a service where a skilled educator assists the classroom teacher and not the student with ASD (Barton & Harn, 2012). Dixon et al. (2014) explained consultants "facilitate in the development of foundational understanding and instructional competencies for the topic at hand" (p. 114). The consultant meets and openly communicates with the regular educator to discuss goals, devise plans, implement strategies, and monitor progress (Barton & Harn). Strategies discussed can include specific teaching skills and strategies for addressing and managing behavior issues (Gulec-Aslan, 2013).

Coaching is a hands-on delivery service where practices are modeled, feedback is provided, data are regularly collected, and reflection occurs (Barton & Harn, 2012). The coach is the expert and teaches other practitioners to effectively implement evidencebased skills (Barton & Harn). The coach is basically a teacher who facilitates scheduled observation times where practice can occur and feedback can be provided (Dixon et al., 2014).

Professional development is beneficial when paired with coaching and consultation opportunities and when long-term (Higginson & Chatfield, 2012). Ongoing coaching was identified by educators as the most valuable support in a study completed by Mueller and Brewer (2013). With long-term support, teacher competence and confidence increases and student outcomes improve (Mueller & Brewer). Long-term support is necessary to ensure quality inclusion occurs (Higginson & Chatfield). Longterm support also ensures the subject matter is presented comprehensively, goals are met, and outcomes are realized (Gulec-Aslan, 2013).

## Summary

Within the review of literature, the history and benefits of inclusion were reviewed, along with the reasons for resistance. The features of successful inclusive education and accommodating for learner differences were also discussed. Bandura's Social Cognitive theory was revisited, and the characteristics associated with ASD and professional development were examined.

As the population of students with ASD continues to rise, inclusion is gaining in popularity as the choice program (Whitmer, 2013). One reason for the popularity is because inclusion is cost-effective and shown to benefit students with disabilities, including those with ASD (Whitmer). The No Child Left Behind Act and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act also aided in the growth of inclusion, because the laws required accountability in educational programming and emphasized the requirement of highly qualified educators (Hill & Hill, 2012). Despite legislation requirements and the increase of students with ASD, regular educators and schools continue to be spontaneous in their attempts to effectively educate these students (Busby et al., 2012). The regular educator who is teaching students with ASD continues to believe educating these students requires specialized skills he or she does not have (Busby et al.).

One way to determine the actual skills and knowledge of evidence-based practices regular educators have to address the unique needs of students with ASD is to research

the specific understandings. There are specific practices noted as important and necessary if students with ASD are to have a successful inclusion experience. Using the features of successful inclusion for students with ASD, this research was conducted to determine the knowledge regular educators have in those areas, which include the following: supportive culture/climate, structured environment, individualized programming, ongoing assessments, and flexible curriculum. Additionally, research was conducted to determine whether regular educators are supported in their endeavors to educate students with ASD through professional development, collaboration opportunities, or with an established task force. The understandings of regular educators, along with the support provided educators by administrators, were determined by conducting a survey and asking teachers to report on their knowledge, experience, and support opportunities.

In Chapter Two, literature related to successful inclusion for students with ASD is reviewed. Chapter Three focuses on the design of the present study and the methodology. In Chapter Four, the data are offered and analyzed. The findings are summarized, conclusions are made, and recommendations for additional research are presented in Chapter Five.

## **Chapter Three: Methodology**

Since federal legislation requires school districts to educate children with disabilities in the least restrictive setting, general educators are enlisted with the responsibility of educating these students (Busby et al., 2012). When gathering information to improve the curriculum at the University of Troy, Busby et al. revealed the need for additional research that focuses on the preparedness of regular educators for educating students with ASD. With the pressures of legislation, school districts must embrace the challenge and be diligent in training general education teachers (Ryan et al., 2011). Busby et al. reported, "General educators need adequate knowledge and training, including clinical experiences, for teaching children with autism" (p. 28). Without adequate knowledge and training, regular educators will have a difficult time fostering higher achievement and emotional stability in students with ASD (Kunter et al., 2013).

Quantitative data were collected and calculated for this study to determine the specific knowledge K-5 regular educators exhibit regarding best practices for educating students with ASD. The following areas of focus were identified throughout research as practices that meet the needs of students with ASD and/or assist the regular educator: supportive culture/climate, structured environment, individualized programming, ongoing assessments, supports and collaboration, professional development, and flexible curriculum. Quantitative data were also gathered to determine the extent of support provided to regular educators and to determine whether a task force has been established in one urban school district in Missouri. In Chapter Three, the design for this study, along with the population and sample, are established. The instrument used in the study, data collection procedures, and data analysis are also discussed.

### **Problem and Purpose Overview**

This study was established to explore the knowledge and understandings K-5 regular educators have of evidence-based practices that address the specific needs of students with ASD. The goal was to identify the evidence-based practices K-5 regular educators lack understanding of and to provide that information to school districts as suggested professional development areas. Secondly, the study was conducted to determine whether a task force for inclusion was in operation and to investigate the current support provided to regular educators teaching students with ASD. As previously stated, regular educators accept they do not have the adequate skills to effectively educate students with ASD (Busby et al., 2012). Without confidence and knowledge, regular educators are less likely to individualize instruction to address the needs of the student with ASD (Dixon et al., 2014). Therefore, by researching the areas in which regular educators lack knowledge, school districts might recognize the need for professional development to improve regular educators' skills and ultimately benefit students with ASD.

One potential problem that could have manifested during the implementation of this study is social desirability bias (Adams & Lawrence, 2015). The survey utilized in this study asks questions of participants regarding their own opinions and attitudes. According to Adams and Lawrence, the responses to the survey could be inaccurate because the participants may "respond based on how they want to be perceived rather than how they actually think or behave" (p. 106). Additionally, the information gathered from the surveys may not have been comprehensive (Adams & Lawrence). There also could have been an issue with gathering the data. This study utilized a survey that was distributed by a third party. With a third party distribution, response rate could have been lower compared to a survey that was personally administered (Adams & Lawrence, 2015).

### **Research Questions**

The following research questions were established to guide this current study:

1. What knowledge and understanding of best practices do K-5 regular education teachers exhibit to address the individual needs of students with ASD in the following areas:

- Supportive culture/climate
- Structured environment
- Individualized programming
- Ongoing assessments
- Supports and collaboration
- Professional development
- Flexible curriculum
- 2. What kind of task force for inclusion, if any, has been established?

# **Research Design**

With the type of research and the subject matter, a non-experimental survey design was appropriate for this study. For this study's quantitative research, a crosssectional survey was employed. Bandura's social cognitive theory of self-efficacy provided a guide for this study (Bandura, 1977). The purpose of this study was to identify the understanding and knowledge regular education teachers in one urban school district in Missouri have in regard to best practices for addressing the specific needs of students with ASD. The purpose was also to establish whether a task force has been employed and professional development is provided. In identifying the best research method, mixedmethod, qualitative, and quantitative methods were considered before determining quantitative research was the most applicable.

Qualitative research, according to Adams and Lawrence (2015), is non-numerical. Berger (2014) explained qualitative research focuses on "important social, political, and economic matters and use concepts and theories from psychoanalytic thought" (p. 8). This type of research is theoretical in nature, utilizes interpretations and evaluations, and analyzes concepts to construct explanations (Berger). One of the main benefits of using qualitative research is that it allows for a broad inquiry, which often opens the door for additional research (Choy, 2014).

Choy (2014) offered a list of limitations in qualitative research, including the requirement of skill when conducting the study. Additionally, the results are not always conclusive, issues can easily be excluded, and qualitative research can be time consuming (Choy). The analysis process requires intensive categorization and recording, which requires skill and time (Choy). After considering the limitations of qualitative research, it was determined this type of research was not the most appropriate. Since the utilization of qualitative research was dismissed, the choice of a mixed-methods study was not an option.

With quantitative research, comparisons can be formed from the data gathered within a large population (Creswell, 2014). According to Creswell, the variables in the research "can be measured, typically on instruments, so that numbered data can be

analyzed using statistical procedures" (p. 4). Choy (2014) also pointed out quantitative research can be collected and analyzed within a minimal time period. Creswell further supported the use of quantitative research when he listed survey research as a quantitative design. Creswell stated, "Survey research provides a quantitative or numeric description of trends, attitudes, or opinions of a population by studying a sample of that population" (p. 13). Choy reported the following as weaknesses of quantitative research: difficulty obtaining an in-depth description, research of a larger scale is challenging, and participant perceptions are often unknown. However, these limitations would not affect this study in a profound manner.

### **Population and Sample**

After a stratification of the population was conducted to include only certified K-5 regular education teachers employed by one urban school district in Missouri, the population for this study included 500 to 650 K-5 educators. Creswell (2014) explained, "Stratification means that special characteristics of individuals (e.g., gender-females and males) are represented in the sample and the sample reflects the true proportion in the population of individuals with certain characteristics" (p. 158). To ensure the sample was a representation of K-5 regular educators teaching throughout the urban school district, the educators teaching in the elementary schools positioned at the four extreme directional locations (north, south, east, and west) and those teaching at one elementary school centrally located were surveyed. The sample included 95 K-5 regular educators.

To keep the identities of the participating educators and schools anonymous, a geographical location was assigned to each school (north, south, east, west, central). The geographical locations were utilized throughout the research instead of the names of the participating schools. The paper surveys and consent forms were hand delivered on one occasion to a third party at each of the participating schools and were distributed by those individuals.

## Instrumentation

For this study, a cross-sectional survey with open- and closed-ended questions was utilized (see Appendix A). A cross-sectional survey is used when data are being collected from a sample at a specific time (Fink, 2013). This survey was approved by the dissertation committee members and was designed to obtain descriptive data. The survey contained five demographic questions, 25 closed-ended questions, and five open-ended questions.

Oluwatayo (2012) pointed out in educational research there are threats to reliability and validity. These threats include "biases and errors in the conceptualization of the research, the research design, sampling and process of the study" (Oluwatayo, p. 398). According to Creswell (2014), internal threats to validity "are experimental procedures, treatments, or experiences of the participants that threaten the researcher's ability to draw correct inferences from the data about the population in an experiment" (p. 174). Internal threats can include the following: history, maturation, regression, selection, mortality, diffusion of treatment, compensatory/resentful demoralization, compensatory rivalry, testing, and instrumentation (Creswell). For this study, the above internal threats were considered so internal validity could be controlled. Procedures were established to ensure all surveys were distributed and collected by a third party, so participants remained nameless. Survey questions were kept short, simple, and to a minimum. For the closed-ended questions, a Likert scale was used within the measurement instrument to determine whether regular education teachers have the knowledge and support to address the individual needs of students with ASD using best practices. Adams and Lawrence (2015) explained the Likert scale measures one's beliefs or attitudes about a particular topic or situation and allows for a statistical analysis to be conducted. The Likert scale used for this study contained the following response options: Strongly Agree, Agree, Disagree, and Strongly Disagree. The scale was designed to provide opportunity for a positive or negative response.

Open-ended questions were also utilized within the measurement instrument to provided opportunity for regular educators to thoroughly express their knowledge. The open-ended questions provided opportunity for participants to expand on their knowledge of evidence-based practices, a task force for inclusion, the biggest challenge when educating ASD students, and knowledge of the recommended criteria for curriculum implementation. Adams and Lawrence (2015) emphasized open-ended questions provide opportunity for participants to write individual answers and can later be categorized into major ideas and analyzed.

### **Data Collection**

A comprehensive, sequential process was utilized in collecting data for this study. After obtaining authorization from the Lindenwood University's Institutional Review Board (see Appendix B), permission was sought for and attained from the participating urban school district in Missouri to conduct research within the district (see Appendix C). Consent was reached from the participating urban district by completing a request to conduct research form and submitting it to the manager of quality improvement and accountability.

Once permission from the participating urban school district was received, the principals from each of the five contributing schools were contacted by phone. After initial contact was established, a letter was sent through district email to each principal explaining the study, the requirements of the third party, and the dates on which the surveys and informed consent forms (see Appendix D) would be distributed to the participating school and collected.

The next step was distributing the paper surveys and consent letters to the participating schools' principals. Both the surveys and consent letters were hand delivered, along with two envelopes labeled "surveys" and "consent letters." Attached to each survey was a consent letter that explained the purpose of the research, along with privacy of identity and voluntary participation statements, contact numbers for questions or concerns, a description of the risks and benefits, and the procedures for completing the survey.

The principal of each of the five schools voluntarily assisted as the third party and distributed and collected the surveys and consent letters to ensure the participants remained anonymous. The surveys and consent letters were collected and stored in two separate envelopes until the researcher collected them one week after distribution. By storing the surveys and consent letters in two separate envelopes and with no identifying information on the surveys, the participants remained anonymous.

Once the surveys were collected, the information represented was presented accurately using an Excel spreadsheet. The data were organized and studied to gather the necessary information needed to complete the study. The data remained in the possession of the primary investigator at all times and were stored in a locked cabinet at the investigator's residence. After the completion of the study, the statistical and survey information will be stored in a locked cabinet for three years, according to federal regulation.

While collecting and classifying the data, attention was paid to ensure internal and external validity were established (Creswell, 2014). The selection of the participants was arranged, so there was an equal distribution within the population (Creswell). In addition to ensuring a valid selection process, the results for this study were not generalized to groups or individuals with differing characteristics (Creswell). Additionally, since this study included a paper survey that was hand delivered, the participation rate might have been affected. Adams and Lawrence (2015) maintained, "The higher your nonresponse rate, the less likely it is that your sample will represent your population" (p. 127). Of the 95 educators included in the sample, 30 contributed to this study. According to Adams and Lawrence, there would need to be a 10% response rate or higher for a representation of the population to exist.

#### **Data Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were used to analyze the quantitative data for this study. Descriptive statistics, as reported by Adams and Lawrence (2015), "answer the who, what, where, when, and how questions" and "provide a way to get more detail about an event or to understand attitudes and behaviors" (p. 103). Descriptive statistics are used to describe data instead of explain relationships (Adams & Lawrence). The current study included five demographic questions, 24 Likert-type questions, five open-ended questions, and one question that required participants to circle the listed areas of knowledge. The Likert scale used in the current study included the following ranges: SD = Strongly Agree, A = Agree, D = Disagree, and SD = Strongly Disagree. The data gathered from the closed-ended questions were categorized and then tabulated by research question. For this study, the mode was calculated to determine the preparedness of regular educators in educating students with ASD. Measure of central tendency is an average and includes the mean, median, and mode (Salkind, 2011). According to Salkind, "Which measure of central tendency you use depends on the type of data that you are describing" (p. 30). For the open-ended questions, a thematic analysis was utilized to describe and organize the data according to similarities and themes (Adams & Lawrence, 2015).

To further identify patterns and acquire a comprehensive understanding of the quantitative data, frequency and percent distributions were utilized. Salkind (2011) defined frequency distribution as "a method of tallying and representing how often certain scores occur" (p. 52). With a frequency distribution, the data are usually grouped as a range or as class intervals (Salkind). Adams and Lawrence (2015) clarified, "A percentage is the proportion of a score within a sample" (p. 143). Both percent and frequency distributions "describe the places or rankings in the sample" (Adams & Lawrence, p. 158). After completing the frequency and percent distributions, the data were organized into tables for understanding. All statistical analysis were computed and saved in Microsoft Excel.

## **Ethical Considerations**

This study was proposed to and approved by the Institutional Review Board and the participating urban school district in Missouri before the research project was initiated. When analyzing data in quantitative research, Creswell (2014) warned against "disregarding data that proves or disproves personal hypotheses that the researcher may hold" (p. 99). Additionally, Creswell explained, "The data analysis should reflect the statistical tests and not be underreported" (p. 99). The privacy of the participants was respected when analyzing the data, as Creswell suggested. By having a third party (the school principal) distribute and collect the surveys, the identities of the participants were kept anonymous when received by the researcher. If surveys inadvertently included identifying factors, they were not used in the research. Additionally, with the consent form, the participants were notified their participation was voluntary, there was no penalty to withdraw from the research, and there was no requirement to answer all of the questions. Careful attention was taken to ensure all statistical analysis was reported and to ensure the results were unbiased.

### Summary

Chapter Three began with an overview of the research problem and purpose. The research questions were presented, followed by the research design. The population and sample for the study were discussed, and an explanation was given for conducting the study using quantitative research. The instrumentation process was offered, along with the procedures for collecting data. Last, the measures used to analyze the data were reviewed.

This quantitative study was descriptive, and modes, percentages, and frequency tables were used to describe the knowledge and support regular educators have in effectively instructing students with ASD within inclusive settings. With the collection and analysis of the data, the regular educator's knowledge of best practices for effectively educating students with ASD could be understood. Collecting and analyzing the data also provided an understanding of the support and professional development delivered to regular educators.

In Chapter Four, demographic information is presented according to individual teacher responses. Individual teacher responses to questions related to the following evidence-based practices are also analyzed and presented: supportive culture/climate, structured environment, individualized programming, ongoing assessments, and flexible curriculum. The results of the data are offered on the types of professional development and support received and whether support is provided through a task force. Finally, Chapter Five includes a summarization of the findings, conclusions, and recommendations for further study.

### **Chapter Four: Analysis of Data**

This study was conducted to determine the knowledge and understandings K-5 regular education teachers have of the evidence-based practices that address the specific needs of students with ASD. Specifically, this study focused on the following areas: supportive culture/climate, structured environment, individualized programming, ongoing assessments, supports and collaboration, professional development, and flexible curriculum. The above areas were mentioned throughout research as necessary requirements for successful inclusion, and the goal of this study was to establish whether K-5 regular educators have knowledge in the above areas, have received professional development, and are provided the needed supports and collaboration time. The researcher also sought to determine whether a task force for inclusion had been established in the urban school district in Missouri where this study was conducted.

Since there is a gap in the research regarding the knowledge of regular educators who educate students with ASD, this study was undertaken to close the gap. School districts across America are placing more and more students with ASD in the regular classroom setting because of the legal mandate of least restrictive environment (Sansosti & Sansosti, 2012). Although the number of students with ASD placed in regular education classrooms is growing, Busby et al. (2012) reported regular educators are unprepared, and there is a need for additional research to determine the actual knowledge regular educators have regarding best practices.

This study involved a quantitative research design. Descriptive statistics were used to analyze the data to determine what knowledge K-5 regular education teachers have regarding best practices for educating students with ASD and to determine whether
a task force had been established within the urban school district in Missouri. Data also contained information regarding professional development and perceived challenges. Surveys completed by K-5 regular educators within one urban school district in Missouri were analyzed.

The current study was conducted within one urban school district in Missouri. Once a stratification of the population was completed, the population included 500 to 650 K-5 regular educators. The K-5 regular educators teaching in the elementary schools located at the four extreme directional locations (north, south, east, and west) and those teaching in one centrally located elementary school were surveyed for this study, which resulted in a sample of 95 K-5 regular education teachers.

### **Descriptive Analysis of Quantitative Data**

Surveys were distributed to 95 K-5 regular educators to collect quantitative data, and 30 educators completed the surveys. Survey questions one through five were designed to gather demographic information. Questions six through 29 were Likert scale items and were utilized so a descriptive analysis could be conducted. The last six questions provided opportunity for regular educators to elaborate on their biggest challenges, training provided or received, criteria for curriculum implementation, a task force for inclusion, knowledge of best practices, and areas of needed training.

The research questions were designed to gather information regarding best practices and were concentrated on the knowledge of K-5 regular educators. Additionally, data were gathered to determine whether a task force for inclusion had been established in the participating urban school district in Missouri. Demographic information was also gathered from the participants. The demographics of the participants provided the following information: location of the educator's school, years of teaching, highest degree completed, current number of students with ASD, and experience teaching students with ASD. Adams and Lawrence (2015) reported demographic information has no numerical value, but the information can be beneficial. Question one on the survey instrument asked the educators the location of the schools in which they taught. According to the data gathered, seven of the 18 educators (39%) participated from the north school, five of 22 (23%) participated from the south school, one of 18 (6%) participated from the east school, seven of 18 (39%) participated from the west school, and 10 out of 19 K-5 regular educators (53%) contributed to this study from the central school. There were at least 20% of the K-5 regular educators from four out of five schools contributing to the present research.

Table 1 summarizes the demographic information from questions two through five. As displayed in Table 1, 30% of the K-5 regular educators have been teaching for 10 years or fewer, whereas 70% have been teaching for 11 or more years. Over half of the participating educators, 67%, hold a Master's degree or higher. Only 33% of the K-5 educators presently had a student with ASD in their classrooms, and 87% of the educators reported previous experience educating students with ASD.

# Descriptive Statistics of Demographic Information

| Question                                | Number of Responses |
|-----------------------------------------|---------------------|
| 2. Total Years of Teaching Experience   | •                   |
|                                         |                     |
| First Year of Teaching                  | 3                   |
| 1-5 Years of Teaching                   | 2                   |
| 6-10 Years of Teaching                  | 4                   |
| 11-15 Years of Teaching                 | 8                   |
| 16-20 Years of Teaching                 | 5                   |
| More Than 21 Years of Teaching          | 8                   |
| 3. Highest Degree Completed             |                     |
|                                         |                     |
| Bachelors                               | 8                   |
| Bachelors $+15$                         | 2                   |
| Masters                                 | 19                  |
| Masters + 15                            | 1                   |
| PhD/EdD                                 | 0                   |
| 4. Current ASD Students Responsible For |                     |
| _                                       |                     |
| 0 ASD Students                          | 20                  |
| 1 ASD Student                           | 7                   |
| 2 ASD Students                          | 2                   |
| 3 ASD Students                          | 1                   |
| More Than 3 ASD Students                | 0                   |
| 5. Past Number of ASD Students          |                     |
|                                         |                     |
| 0 ASD Students                          | 4                   |
| 1-3 ASD Students                        | 11                  |
| 4-6 ASD Students                        | 12                  |
| 7-9 ASD Students                        | 0                   |
| 10 or More ASD Students                 | 3                   |
|                                         |                     |

*Note. n* = 30.

**Research question 1.** What knowledge and understanding of best practices do K-5 regular education teachers exhibit to address the individual needs of students with ASD in the area of supportive culture/climate? Survey questions nine and 29 supported this research question (see Table 2). Out of the 30 K-5 educator responses to question number nine, 20 educators (67%) specified they strongly agree they have created a supportive culture with high expectations, unobtrusive support, and respect for diversity. The other 10 K-5 educators (33%) agreed they have established a supportive climate within their classroom. As shown in Table 2, 17 educators (57%) stated they strongly agree to question 29, which asked the K-5 educators if they provide additional support to students when it is needed. Thirteen educators (43%) agreed to this statement. While evidence-based practices are necessary for students with ASD, to be effective they must be implemented naturally and in an unobtrusive manner (Barton & Harn, 2012). Kaweski (2011) emphasized the culture within the classroom must be supportive and respectful of diversity if healthy student development is to occur. As reported in Table 2, the survey results indicated 100% of the participating K-5 educators believe their classrooms are supportive.

| Question                           | Strongly<br>Agree | Agree | Disagree | Strongly<br>Disagree |
|------------------------------------|-------------------|-------|----------|----------------------|
| 9. In my classroom, I have created | 20                | 10    | 0        | 0                    |
| 29. In my classroom, I ensure      | 17                | 13    | 0        | 0                    |
| <i>Note. n</i> = 30.               |                   |       |          |                      |

Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Supportive Culture/Climate

**Research question 1.** What knowledge and understanding of best practices do K-5 regular education teachers exhibit to address the individual needs of students with ASD in the area of structured environment?

This research question was answered using questions 10 and 11 (see Table 3). Out of the 30 educator responses to question 10, 26 K-5 educators (87%) strongly agreed they use consistent routines and procedures on a daily basis, and four educators (13%) agreed. As displayed in Table 3, question 11 was answered by 30 educators, with 13 educators (43%) stating they strongly agree their classroom have organized and defined areas for specific purposes, while 17 K-5 educators (57%) agreed they have defined areas in their classrooms. A student with ASD cannot learn and understand if there is not structure and consistency within the classroom, including defined areas for specific purposes (Hanbury, 2012). Along with defined areas for specific purposes, Barton and Harn (2012) also emphasized the need for structured routines and a structured teaching design. It is important educators design a classroom that is structure for students with ASD, and since there were no educators disagreeing or strongly disagreeing to questions 10 and 11, 100% of the K-5 educators surveyed do organize and define the areas within their classrooms with minimal distractions and use consistent routines.

#### Table 3

Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Structured Environment

| Ques | stion                                | Strongly<br>Agree | Agree | Disagree | Strongly<br>Disagree |
|------|--------------------------------------|-------------------|-------|----------|----------------------|
| 10.  | In my classroom, I use consistent    | 26                | 4     | 0        | 0                    |
| 11.  | In my classroom, areas are organized | 13                | 17    | 0        | 0                    |
| Note | p. n = 30.                           |                   |       |          |                      |

10000. 11 - 50.

**Research question 1.** What knowledge and understanding of best practices do K-5 regular education teachers exhibit to address the individual needs of students with ASD in the area of individualized programming?

To determine whether K-5 educators individualize programming in their classrooms, questions 13, 14, 15, 16, and 17 were used, with 30 educators responding to all five questions (see Table 4). Question 13 asked educators if they had the skills to teach a student with ASD to attend to a task or activity. As shown in Table 4, one educator (3%) strongly agreed to this question, 16 (53%) agreed, 12 (40%) disagreed, and one educator (3%) strongly disagreed. The K-5 regular education teachers were split on this question with 17 educators (57%) reporting they have the skills, while 13 educators (43%) reported they do not have the skills to effectively teach attention to a task or activity to a student with ASD.

Question 14 on the survey asked educators if they could effectively teach students with ASD imitation. As presented in Table 4, one educator (3%) strongly agreed, 13 educators (43%) agreed, 14 educators (47%) disagreed, and two educators (7%) strongly disagreed. The K-5 regular educators were also split on this question, with close to an equal distribution between those who believe they have the skills and those who believe they do not have the skills. According to the survey results, 14 educators (47%) reported they could effectively teach a student with ASD imitation, while 16 educators (53%) reported they do not have the skills to teach imitation.

For question 15 of the survey instrument, the educators were asked if they know how to maintain and shift the attention of a student with ASD. As shown in Table 4, two K-5 educators (7%) strongly agreed to question number 15, 14 educators (47%) agreed, 13 (43%) disagreed, and one K-5 educator (3%) strongly disagreed to possessing the skills necessary to maintain and shift the attention of students with ASD. Just over half of the educators (53%) stated they have the skills required to maintain and shift the attention of a student with ASD, while just under half (47%) of the K-5 regular educators reported they do not have these skills.

Question number 16 focused on communication and asked the educators if they could effectively address receptive and expressive language issues within their classrooms. According to the data gathered and displayed in Table 4, one educator (3%) strongly agreed, 18 (60%) agreed, 11 (37%) disagreed, and zero K-5 regular educators strongly disagreed to having the skills required to effectively address receptive and expressive language issues in students with ASD. In analyzing question number 16, more educators (63%) believe they have the skills to effectively address deficits in the area of communication than those educators who believe they do not have the skills (37%).

Question 17 on the survey also assisted with determining whether K-5 educators have the skills to individualize programming for students with ASD. Question 17 requested educators reflect on their abilities to address social skills and active participation deficits among students with ASD. As revealed in Table 4, one educator (3%) strongly agreed, 19 educators (63%) agreed, and 10 educators (33%) disagreed. There were no educators who strongly disagreed to having the proper skills to effectively address social deficits and encourage active participation in students with ASD. While there were no educators who strongly disagreed, most of the educators (63%) agreed they have the skills and knowledge to address social deficits and increase participation among students with ASD.

According to Barton and Harn (2012), curriculum for students with ASD should be individualized to increase independent functioning, learning, and personal development. The following core skills must be addressed in the classroom if students with ASD are going to function independently, learn, and develop personally: imitation, attention to relevant stimuli, joint attention, participation in daily routines, communication skills, and social skills (Barton & Harn). As shown in Table 4, the data collected from questions 13, 15, 16, and 17 indicate slightly over half of the K-5 educators surveyed can teach a student with ASD how to attend to a task, how to switch from one task to another, how to receive and express their thoughts and feelings, and how to effectively socialize. Slightly fewer than half (47%), according to the results of question 14, can effectively teach a student with ASD imitation, which is an important skill for learning new proficiencies in the classroom (Barton & Harn).

### Table 4

| Question                                           | Strongly<br>Agree | Agree | Disagree | Strongly<br>Disagree |
|----------------------------------------------------|-------------------|-------|----------|----------------------|
| 13. I have the skills to effectively               | 1                 | 16    | 12       | 1                    |
| 14. I have the skills to effectively-<br>imitation | 1                 | 13    | 14       | 2                    |
| 15. I know how to gain                             | 2                 | 14    | 13       | 1                    |
| 16. I know how to address                          | 1                 | 18    | 11       | 0                    |
| 17. If a student is not willing                    | 1                 | 19    | 10       | 0                    |
| <i>Note</i> . $n = 30$ .                           |                   |       |          |                      |

Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Individualized Programming

Question 34 of the survey instrument was also related to individualized programming (see Table 5). The question listed 17 evidence-based practices that have been proven to be useful in teaching students with ASD. The K-5 regular education teachers were asked to circle the evidence-based practices they could use and implement within their classrooms. As displayed in Table 5, 30 educators responded to this question with more than 80% of the educators noting they could use or implement the following practices within their classroom: differentiated instruction, structured environment, visual schedules, cooperative learning, positive behavior support, and visual/verbal cues. Less than 30% of the educators reported they could effectively use or address the following: pivotal response treatment, discrete trial training, applied behavior analysis, picture

exchange system, and addressing communication (receptive and expressive).

# Table 5

| Evidence-Based Practice              | Number of Responses |
|--------------------------------------|---------------------|
| Differentiated Instruction           | 29                  |
| Structured Environment               | 25                  |
| Visual Schedules                     | 26                  |
| Visual and Organization Tools        | 18                  |
| Cooperative Learning                 | 29                  |
| Pivotal Response Treatment           | 1                   |
| Discrete Trial-Training              | 0                   |
| Social Stories                       | 9                   |
| Applied Behavior Analysis            | 2                   |
| Picture Exchange System              | 4                   |
| Scaffolding/Task Analysis            | 15                  |
| Positive Behavior Supports           | 24                  |
| Sensory Supports                     | 15                  |
| Social Skills Education              | 9                   |
| Visual/Verbal Cues                   | 24                  |
| Prompting                            | 23                  |
| Communication (Receptive/Expressive) | 2                   |

Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Survey Question 34, Evidence-Based Practices

*Note. n* = 30.

**Research question 1.** What knowledge and understanding of best practices do K-5 regular education teachers exhibit to address the individual needs of students with ASD in the area of ongoing assessments?

Both questions 18 and 19 were used to answer this research question, with 30 K-5 educators responding to both questions (see Table 6). Question 18 asked educators if they

regularly collect data and conduct ongoing assessments in order to meet the individual

needs of students. As displayed in Table 6, 16 educators (53%) strongly agreed, 14

educators (47%) agreed, and there were no educators who disagreed or strongly disagreed. Since there were no K-5 educators who disagreed or strongly disagreed to question 18, all 30 educators surveyed (100%) reported they regularly collect data and conduct ongoing assessments.

Question 19 asked educators if they conduct observations and assessments within alternate settings when a student is having difficulty in a setting other than their classrooms. As shown in Table 6, two (7%) educators reported they strongly agree, 15 (30%) agreed, 12 (40%) disagreed, and one educator (3%) strongly disagreed. According to the reported data, 17 K-5 regular education teachers (57%) conduct observations and assessments in settings other than their classrooms if the need arises, while 13 educators (43%) reported they do not regularly conduct observations and assessments outside of their classrooms.

Magyar and Pandolfi (2012) emphasized the need for ongoing assessments across settings due to ASD being a neurodevelopmental disorder. Ongoing assessments are also necessary because they are comprehensive (Meyer et al., 2014). From this study's data, it can be concluded K-5 regular educators frequently administer ongoing assessments within their classrooms; however, when students have difficulty in other settings, only approximately half of the K-5 regular educators are likely to conduct observations outside of their classrooms.

| Question                                 | Strongly<br>Agree | Agree | Disagree | Strongly<br>Disagree |
|------------------------------------------|-------------------|-------|----------|----------------------|
| 18. I regularly collect data and conduct | 16                | 14    | 0        | 0                    |
| 19. When a student in my classroom       | 2                 | 15    | 12       | 1                    |
| Note $n = 30$                            |                   |       |          |                      |

Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Ongoing Assessments

*Note.* n = 30.

**Research question 1.** What knowledge and understanding of best practices do K-5 regular education teachers exhibit to address the individual needs of students with ASD in the area of supports and collaboration?

Educators teaching students with ASD must be familiar with the current research to effectively address the deficits exhibited by these students (Hendricks, 2011). As a result, there must be administrative support and scheduled collaboration and preparation time (Odom et al., 2011). To determine whether K-5 regular educators receive administrative support and have the opportunity to collaborate, questions 20 and 27 were used on the survey instrument (see Table 7). Thirty educators responded to question 20 and were asked if their administrator was knowledgeable in teaching students with ASD, provided support, and provided the needed resources to effectively teach students with ASD. For this question, three educators (10%) strongly agreed, 20 educators (67%) agreed, and seven educators (23%) disagreed to having administrative support and an administrator knowledgeable in educating students with ASD.

Question 27 on the survey instrument asked K-5 educators if they had opportunity for collaboration with team members, including the special education teacher. As shown

in Table 7, 30 educators responded to this question, and there were 10 educators (33%) who strongly agreed, 16 educators (53%) who agreed, three educators (10%) who disagreed, and one educator (3%) who strongly disagreed to collaboration opportunities. In analyzing the data, most of the K-5 educators (77%) surveyed believe their administrator is knowledgeable in teaching students with ASD and provides support and resources. Most of the K-5 educators surveyed (87%) also believe they have opportunity for collaboration, including collaboration opportunities with the building special education teacher.

Table 7

| Question                              | Strongly | Agree | Disagree | Strongly |
|---------------------------------------|----------|-------|----------|----------|
|                                       | Agree    |       |          | Disagree |
| 20. My administrator is knowledgeable | 3        | 20    | 7        | 0        |
| 27. When a student in my classroom    | 10       | 16    | 3        | 1        |
| 11                                    |          |       |          |          |

Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Supports and Collaboration

*Note. n* = 30.

**Research question 1.** What knowledge and understanding of best practices do K-5 regular education teachers exhibit to address the individual needs of students with ASD in the area of professional development?

Professional development is crucial because regular educators believe they do not have the skills to educate students with ASD, and this belief of incompetence is the number one barrier to successfully including these students into the regular classroom setting (Sansosti & Sansosti, 2012). Professional development is most effective when it is ongoing with the use of mentors, modeling, and constructive feedback (Higginson & Chatfield, 2012). Questions six and seven of the survey instrument (see Table 8) addressed this research question to determine whether the K-5 regular educators surveyed have had sufficient, ongoing training in evidence-based practices to effectively address the needs of students with ASD. For question six, the regular educators were asked if they had received sufficient training to effectively educate students with ASD. Thirty educators responded to this question, with seven educators (23%) stating they agreed, 17 educators (57%) disagreed, and six regular educators (20%) strongly disagreed. After analyzing the responses to question six, more educators (77%) believe they have not received sufficient training than those who believe (23%) they have received enough training to effectively educate students with ASD.

Question seven of the survey instrument asked the K-5 regular educators if they have received ongoing training regarding evidence-based practices that address the specific needs of students with ASD. There were 30 K-5 regular educators who replied to this question. As presented in Table 8, the responses were as follows: four agreed (13%), 19 disagreed (63%), and seven educators strongly disagreed (23%) to receiving ongoing training. According to the data gathered, more K-5 educators (87%) stated they have not received ongoing training than the K-5 educators (13%) who stated they have received ongoing training.

| Question                               | Strongly<br>Agree | Agree | Disagree | Strongly<br>Disagree |
|----------------------------------------|-------------------|-------|----------|----------------------|
| 6. I have received sufficient training | 0                 | 7     | 17       | 6                    |
| 7. I am provided ongoing training      | 0                 | 4     | 19       | 7                    |

Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Professional Development

*Note. n* = 30.

In addition to question seven, question 31, which was an open-ended question, asked educators to explain the types of training they have received at the collegiate level or from the urban school district in Missouri where this study was conducted (see Figure 2). Out of the 30 educators completing the survey instrument, 23 K-5 educators responded to this question with some of the educators providing more than one answer. As shown in Figure 2, only two educators (9%) out of the 23 stated they have received ongoing training from the participating district, while 21 educators (91%) did not report they have received ongoing training. This question supports the data from question seven with most of the educators (87%) reporting they have not received ongoing training. In the study completed by Mueller and Brewer (2013), educators reported ongoing support increases teacher competence and confidence as well as student outcomes (Mueller & Brewer).

While only two educators reported receiving ongoing training in question 31, 12 of the 23 educators (52%) reported the only training they have received on educating students with ASD was through college courses. Additionally, as displayed in Figure 2,

six educators (26%) reported the training they have received was provided through consultations with the building special education teacher. Other themes from question 31 regarding types of professional development opportunities are as follows: expert speakers and various provided resources.



**Professional Development** 

*Figure 2.* Descriptive statistics of responses to research survey question 31, professional development. n = 30.

When considering areas of needed professional development, questions 34 and 35 of the survey instrument were utilized. As mentioned earlier, question 34 of the survey asked educators to circle the evidence-based practices they could effectively use or implement in the classroom. Less than 30% of the educators indicated they could effectively implement the following practices or address the following skills in their classroom: pivotal response treatment, discrete trial training, applied behavior analysis,

picture exchange system, and communication (receptive and expressive). These could be areas for concentrated professional development. However, when the K-5 regular educators were asked in question 35 to list the areas for which they believe training is required, the educators listed differentiated instruction, behavior supports, structured environment, and visual schedules/tools. Out of the 20 educators who answered question 35, seven educators (35%) stated training would be beneficial in all of the areas listed in question 34 of the survey instrument (see Table 5). Additionally three of the 20 educators (15%) marked they would like training in scaffolding/task analysis, and two (10%) indicated they would like training in each of the following areas: social stories, social skills, and sensory supports. One educator (59%) reported needed training is required in the area of pivotal response treatment.

**Research question 1.** What knowledge and understanding of best practices do K-5 regular education teachers exhibit to address the individual needs of students with ASD in the area of flexible curriculum?

Students with ASD must receive individualized instruction that targets deficit areas and is flexible (Whitmer, 2013). Without a flexible curriculum, success will not occur in the regular classroom setting (Palm, 2012). To determine whether the K-5 regular educators surveyed utilize a flexible curriculum within their classrooms, questions eight, 12, 21, 22, and 23 on the survey instrument were used (see Table 9).

Question eight examined the educators' flexibility with curriculum and sought to determine whether the educators group students according to preferences, strengths, and interests. Of the 30 educators who responded to this question, 17 (57%) strongly agreed and 13 (43%) agreed to providing a flexible curriculum and grouping students. There

were no K-5 regular educators who disagreed or strongly disagreed; therefore, as shown in Table 9, all 30 educators (100%) reported they are flexible with curriculum and group students based on ability, interests, and strengths.

While question eight asked if the educator was flexible with curriculum, question 12 asked the educators if they were flexible with instructional methods and assessments. Thirty educators responded to question 12. As displayed in Table 9, 20 K-5 regular educators (67%) surveyed strongly agreed and 10 educators (33%) agreed to using flexible instructional methods and assessments to address learning differences and to ensure students are reaching their attainable goals. There were no educators who disagreed or strongly disagreed to question 12; therefore, out of the 30 educators surveyed, all of the educators (100%) reported they routinely use flexible instructional methods and assessments.

For question 21, the K-5 regular educators surveyed were asked if they present information in a variety of different ways. Presenting information using a variety of methods supports the recognition network of the brain (Hall et al., 2012). By presenting information using a variety of methods, educators can address the differences in prior knowledge, the inability to read patterns, and can assist with teaching new concepts (Meyer et al., 2014). As shown in Table 9, out of the 30 educators who responded, 14 (47%) strongly agreed and 16 (53%) agreed they present information using a variety of methods. All of the educators surveyed strongly agreed or agreed (100%) to this question.

Question 22 of the survey instrument asked the K-5 regular educators if they allow students to express their knowledge using different methods, which supports the second principle of UDL (Hall et al., 2012). Out of the 30 educators who responded to this question, 13 strongly agreed (43%) and 17 agreed (57%). As displayed in Table 9, since there were no regular educators who disagreed or strongly disagreed to question 22, all educators surveyed (100%) reported they allow students to express their knowledge using a variety of methods.

Question 23 also assisted with answering the research question concerning flexible curriculum. This question asked the K-5 regular educators if they use hooks, visuals, auditory activities, and hands-on activities to maintain the attention of learners. As shown in Table 9, 30 educators responded to this question, with 15 educators (50%) stating they strongly agree and 15 educators (50%) stating they agree. The data collected show all of the educators surveyed do use hooks, visual and auditory activities, and hands-on activities to focus the attention of learners. There were no educators who disagreed or strongly disagreed to questions eight, 12, 21, 22, or 23; therefore, all 30 educators surveyed (100%) reported they implement a flexible curriculum in their classrooms.

Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 1, Flexible Curriculum

| Que | estion                                 | Strongly<br>Agree | Agree | Disagree | Strongly<br>Disagree |
|-----|----------------------------------------|-------------------|-------|----------|----------------------|
| 8.  | In my classroom, I group students      | 17                | 13    | 0        | 0                    |
| 12. | I am flexible with my instruction      | 20                | 10    | 0        | 0                    |
| 21. | In my classroom, I present information | 14                | 16    | 0        | 0                    |
| 22. | In my classroom, I allow students      | 13                | 17    | 0        | 0                    |
| 23. | In my classroom, I get and maintain    | 15                | 15    | 0        | 0                    |

*Note. n* = 30.

**Research question 2.** What kind of task force for inclusion, if any, has been established? Costley (2013) stressed the need for an on-site task force for inclusion composed of educators and administrators to assist with including students with ASD into the regular classroom setting. Question 33, an open-ended question, supported research question two (see Table 10). Out of the 30 K-5 educators completing the surveys, 16 educators answered this survey question. As shown in Table 10, two educators reported a task force had been established within the participating urban school district in Missouri, 11 educators reported a task force had not been established, and three educators reported they did not know if a task force had been established within the urban school district in Missouri.

Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Research Question 2, Established Task Force

| Occurring Themes/Responses | Number Responding |  |
|----------------------------|-------------------|--|
| Yes                        | 2                 |  |
|                            |                   |  |
| No                         | 11                |  |
|                            |                   |  |
| Don't Know                 | 3                 |  |
| <i>Note. n</i> = 16.       |                   |  |

Question 33 also assisted with answering research question two by asking the K-5 educators to describe the established task force within the urban school district in Missouri or to provide a description of a task force if one had not been established. The most common theme from question 33 is that a task force includes a group of educators and administrators who work together to provide support and training to educators who have students within their classrooms with extensive needs. Other educators defined a task force as a resource group that provides a handbook of basic information. Another theme throughout the data gathered was a task force is a group of educators who assist with the implementation of modifications.

### **Perceived Challenges-Descriptive Data**

Busby et al. (2012) reported regular educators believe educating students with ASD is challenging because of the requirement of specialized skills, the need for additional collaboration time, and because of the complex behaviors of the ASD student. In the study completed by Hendricks (2011), educators reported the following as most challenging when working with students with ASD: social, communication, sensory, and motor deficits. Question 30 of the survey instrument, which was an open-ended question, asked educators to elaborate on their biggest challenges when educating students with ASD. Out of the 30 educators completing the survey instrument, 20 educators replied to question 30 with some of the educators listing more than one answer (see Table 11). Seven educators stated the biggest challenge when educating students with ASD is addressing the needs of 20 to 25 students when one student requires specialized attention. The following challenges were noted in the answers to question 30 and support the research completed by Busby et al. (2012) and Hendricks (2011): social challenges, communication needs, complex/disruptive behaviors, additional collaboration time, and the requirement of specialized skills. Additionally, there were three educators who stated the biggest challenge was understanding the thought processes of the student with ASD, and three educators noted attention to task was the biggest challenge when a student with ASD is included in the regular education classroom.

Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Survey Question 20, Biggest Challenge

| Occurring Themes                   | Number Responding |
|------------------------------------|-------------------|
| Social Challenges                  | 3                 |
| Communication Needs                | 2                 |
| Attention to Task                  | 3                 |
| Complex/Disruptive Behavior        | 2                 |
| How ASD Students Think/Process     | 3                 |
| Requirement of Specialized Skills  | 1                 |
| Addressing Needs of 20-25 Students | 7                 |
| Collaboration Time                 | 1                 |
| <i>Note.</i> $n = 20$ .            |                   |

## **Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory-Descriptive Data**

Bandura's social cognitive theory of self-efficacy assisted in explaining the importance of the preparedness of regular educators to provide quality education for students with ASD. Bandura (1995) defined self-efficacy as one's "beliefs in one's capability to organize and execute the course of action required to manage perspective situations" (p. 2). Questions 25 and 26 on the survey instrument were developed to determine whether the K-5 educators surveyed believe they have the skills and confidence to effectively educate students with ASD (see Table 12). Question 25 asked the educators if they were confident they could help all of the students in their classrooms to meet full potential, including students with ASD. Of the 30 educators responding to

this question, 11 educators (37%) strongly agreed, 17 (57%) agreed, and two educators (7%) disagreed. The results indicate 28 regular education teachers out of 30 (93%) have the confidence they can help all students achieve full potential, including students with ASD. The data gathered from question 25 indicate regular educators are confident they do have the skills to effectively educate students with ASD.

Question 26 on the survey instrument asked the 30 regular educators if they have an understanding of the characteristics associated with ASD and can address the issues exhibited by these students. As shown in Table 12, according to the 30 educator responses, two (7%) strongly agreed, 18 (60%) agreed, and 10 educators (33%) disagreed they possess the knowledge and skills to address the deficits exhibited by students with ASD. When the question on the survey instrument focused on specific characteristics associated with ASD (social difficulties, inability to make connections/draw conclusions, attention difficulties, behavioral difficulties, and sensory impairments), as question 26 did, over half (67%) of the participating educators reported they have the confidence, skills, and knowledge to address the exhibited characteristics.

According to Stephanou et al. (2013), with positive self-efficacy, educators can face challenges. The educator is also persistent when challenges are presented (Busby et al., 2012). Bandura (1997) emphasized individuals apply actions, set goals, and are persistent with effort when there is a strong sense of personal self-efficacy. To assist with determining whether K-5 educators have the self-efficacy to be persistent in challenging situations, questions 24 and 28 were utilized (see Table 12).

Question 24 asked educators if they view problems as challenges that must be mastered. This question focused on the persistence of the educator. With 30 educators

responding to question 24, 13 (43%) strongly agreed, 16 (53%) agreed, and one educator (3%) disagreed to seeing problems as challenges that have to be mastered. The data indicated most of the K-5 educators participating in this research (97%) are persistent when problems arise and believe problems must be mastered.

Question 28 on the survey instrument asked the regular education teachers if they plan alternate strategies and learn from their experiences when a strategy or accommodation does not work. This question sought to determine whether K-5 educators are persistent when faced with a challenging situation, which would be an indicator of positive self-efficacy (Bandura, 1997). As presented in Table 12, 30 educators responded to question 30 with 10 (33%) stating they strongly agree and 20 educators (67%) stating they agree. The data from question 28 indicate 100% of the K-5 educators participating in this research believe they learn from their experiences and plan alternate strategies when the implemented accommodations and strategies do not work.

Descriptive Statistics of Responses to Survey Questions 24, 25, 26, and 28, Bandura

| Question                                           | Strongly | Agree | Disagree | Strongly |
|----------------------------------------------------|----------|-------|----------|----------|
|                                                    | Agree    |       |          | Disagree |
| 24. When faced with problems                       | 13       | 16    | 1        | 0        |
| 25. I am confident I can help                      | 11       | 17    | 2        | 0        |
| 26. I have an understanding of the characteristics | 2        | 18    | 10       | 0        |
| 28. When I implement a strategy/<br>accommodation  | 10       | 20    | 0        | 0        |

*Note. n* = 30.

# **Criteria for Curriculum Implementation-Descriptive Data**

Since there are specific guidelines that should be followed when implementing curriculum within an inclusive setting, question 32 on the survey instrument asked the K-5 educators to explain their knowledge of the recommended criteria (see Table 13). Of the 30 educators participating in this study, 19 educators responded to question 32, with some of the educators providing more than one answer. The following themes were noted when reviewing the answers to survey question 32: meet with team members, review student's IEP, differentiate instruction, and structure. Out of the 19 educators responding to question 32, eight educators reported they did not know how curriculum should be implemented within an inclusive setting. Eight educators also reported curriculum implementation within an inclusive setting should include differentiated instruction. One educator stated curriculum implementation should involve meetings with team members, and one educator reported curriculum implementation within an inclusive setting involves looking at the student's individualized Education Program [IEP].

### Table 13

|  | Descri | ptive | <i>Statistics</i> | of Re. | sponses t | to Surve | ey Q | uestion . | 32, | Recomme | nded | C | urricul | lum |
|--|--------|-------|-------------------|--------|-----------|----------|------|-----------|-----|---------|------|---|---------|-----|
|--|--------|-------|-------------------|--------|-----------|----------|------|-----------|-----|---------|------|---|---------|-----|

| Occurring Themes           | Number Responding |  |  |  |  |  |
|----------------------------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Differentiated Instruction | 8                 |  |  |  |  |  |
|                            |                   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Structure                  | 2                 |  |  |  |  |  |
|                            |                   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Don't Know                 | 8                 |  |  |  |  |  |
|                            |                   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Meet with Team Members     | 1                 |  |  |  |  |  |
|                            |                   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Review Student's IEP       | 1                 |  |  |  |  |  |
| <i>Note. n</i> = 19.       |                   |  |  |  |  |  |

According to the National Council for Special Education (2011), there are specific guidelines that should be followed when implementing curriculum within an inclusive setting. Curriculum needs to be whole-school planned, differentiated, enjoyable, and should involve the use of evidence-based practices (National Council for Special Education). Within an inclusive classroom, students should also be grouped according to interests, needs, and strengths, and the expectations and objectives should always be prearranged (National Council for Special Education). As shown in Table 13, the data gathered from question 32 indicate 11 of the 19 responses followed the guidelines that should be utilized when implementing curriculum within an inclusive setting. The responses of differentiated instruction, structure, and meeting with team members aligned with the guidelines the National Council for Special Education established.

## **Summary**

Data analysis was completed to determine the knowledge and understandings K-5 regular education teachers have of the following evidence-based practices that address the needs of students with ASD: supportive culture/climate, structured environment, individualized programming, ongoing assessments, supports and collaboration, professional development, and flexible curriculum. The data analysis was also completed to determine whether a task force for inclusion had been established within the participating urban school district in Missouri. A stratification of the population was completed, to include only certified K-5 regular educators. The sample was a representation of K-5 educators teaching in the elementary schools positioned at the four extreme directional locations and those teaching at a school centrally located. The survey instrument was distributed to 95 regular educators, with 30 educators providing feedback.

Descriptive statistics were used to determine the level of understanding of evidence-based practices regular educators have to address the specific needs of students with ASD and to determine whether there was an established task force in the participating urban school district in Missouri. Descriptive statistics were also used to describe demographic information, to explain the biggest challenge educators face when educating students with ASD, and to determine whether K-5 educators have knowledge of the type of curriculum that should be implemented within an inclusive setting. Finally, descriptive statistics were used to assist with determining the self-efficacy of the K-5 regular educators.

Within Chapter Five, the purpose of this study is reviewed, along with the procedures, summary of findings, and the research questions. The limitations of the study

are discussed, and conclusions are summarized. Last, the implications for practice and recommendations are examined.

#### **Chapter Five: Summary and Conclusions**

This study was conducted to investigate the specific knowledge K-5 regular educators have concerning evidence-based practices for effectively educating students with ASD. The emphasis was in determining the knowledge regular educators have in the following areas: supportive culture/climate, structured environment, individualized programming, ongoing assessments, supports and collaboration, professional development, and flexible curriculum, which were mentioned in research as necessary for successful inclusion to occur. The purpose of this study was also to determine if a task force was available to assist K-5 regular educators who teach students with ASD within inclusive settings.

Bandura's (1977) Social Cognitive Theory of self-efficacy provided the underpinning for this study. Bandura's theory framed the importance of the preparedness and efficacy beliefs of K-5 regular education teachers to implement quality curriculum for students with ASD. According to Bandura (1997), "Effective functioning requires both skills and the efficacy beliefs to use them well" (p. 37). With a strong sense of selfefficacy, an individual is able to reorganize preexisting skills to manage situations that are unpredictable and constantly changing (Bandura, 1997). Bandura (1997) emphasized, "Perceived self-efficacy is not a measure of the skills one has but a belief about what one can do under different sets of conditions with whatever skills one possesses" (p. 37).

A review of current literature was also provided within this study. The current literature covered inclusion education, including the features of successful inclusion for students with ASD. The review of current literature also focused on the importance of teacher efficacy and quality professional development.

90

Survey instruments were distributed to K-5 regular education teachers teaching at five different schools located within one urban school district in Missouri, and the results were utilized for the purpose of this study. The acquired data were analyzed to determine the specific knowledge 30 K-5 regular education teachers have concerning the following evidence-based practices for educating students with ASD: supportive culture/climate, structured environment, individualized programming, ongoing assessments, supports and collaboration, professional development, and flexible curriculum. Data were also collected to determine whether a task force had been established to assist the educators in meeting the needs of students with ASD.

The following research questions guided this study:

1. What knowledge and understanding of best practices do K-5 regular education teachers exhibit to address the individual needs of students with ASD in the following areas:

- Supportive culture/climate
- Structured environment
- Individualized programming
- Ongoing assessments
- Supports and collaboration
- Professional development
- Flexible curriculum
- 2. What kind of task force for inclusion, if any, has been established?

The literature that aligns with this study included a historical review of inclusion education and future implementations. Resistance to inclusion was reviewed along with the benefits. A detailed discussion of the features of successful inclusion was included in the literature review, and the unique characteristics of students with ASD were summarized. Last, a framework for customizing curriculum, the importance of teacher efficacy, and professional development were topics presented in the literature review as related to this study.

The population for this study included 500 to 650 K-5 regular education teachers employed by one urban school district in Missouri. The sample included 95 K-5 regular educators teaching in elementary schools positioned at the four extreme directional locations (north, south, east, and west) and those teaching at a centrally located elementary school. The K-5 regular education teachers completed surveys distributed by a third party.

### **Summary of Findings**

The surveys were distributed to 95 K-5 regular educators with 30 educators participating in this study, and the results were analyzed to determine the level of knowledge the educators have regarding evidence-based practices to accommodate students with ASD. A data analysis was also conducted to determine the amount of professional development received and to determine if a task force had been established to meet the needs of K-5 educators teaching students with ASD. Data were gathered and reported from K-5 educators teaching in five different schools within one urban school district in Missouri.

The K-5 regular education teachers responded to five demographic questions, 24 Likert scale questions, five open-ended questions, and a question that required the educators to circle their areas of knowledge. The Likert scale used for this study ranged from strongly agrees, agree, disagree, and strongly disagree. Thirty educators participated in this study, and the descriptive information gathered from the surveys was used to present information for future studies and to for areas of needed professional development.

The first five questions of the survey instrument elicited demographic information, which described the characteristics of the sample and population. According to the information provided by the 30 K-5 regular education teachers who participated in this study, 39% of the educators currently teach at an elementary school positioned at the extreme north, 23% teach at a school located in the southern part of the school district, 6% at an east school, 39% at a west school, and 53% of educators participating in this study currently teach at a centrally located school within one urban school district in Missouri. Out of the 30 educators participating in this study, 70% of the K-5 educators have 11 or more years of teaching experience, while 30% of the educators reported having fewer than 10 years of teaching experience. When asked about the highest degree completed, 67% of the educators who participated stated they had a Master's degree or higher, and 33% reported they had a Bachelor's degree or a Bachelor's plus 15 additional graduate hours. When asked about their current responsibility for teaching students with ASD, 33% of the K-5 regular educators stated they were responsible for at least one student with ASD. In addition, 87% of the participating regular educators reported they have previously been responsible for educating a student with ASD.

**Data analysis of survey responses for research question one.** Knowledge of evidence-based practices for educating students with ASD was the focus of research question one. Questions nine and 29 of the survey instrument were analyzed to determine whether the K-5 regular educators have established a supportive culture/climate within their classrooms. Question nine stated the following: "In my classroom, I have created a supportive culture where diversity is respected, students are supported unobtrusively, there are high expectations for all, and the unique gifts of students are celebrated." Question 29, which was also analyzed to determine whether a supportive culture/climate was present, read, "In my classroom, I ensure all students are learning and provide additional support when it is needed." Of the 30 teacher responses, 100% of the educators strongly agree or agree they have established a supportive culture/climate within their classrooms. Additionally, 100% of the educators reported they strongly agree or agree they provide additional support to students when there is a need. Overall, the K-5 educators reported they have established a supportive cultures/climate, and they support students when a need is prevalent.

The second evidence-based practice analyzed was structured environment. Questions 10 and 11 on the survey instrument were analyzed to determine whether K-5 educators have established structured classroom environments. Question 10 was, "In my classroom, I use consistent routines and procedures that are communicated to students on a daily basis." Question 11 stated, "In my classroom, areas are organized and defined for specific purposes, and auditory and physical distractions are minimized." Since there were no educators who reported they disagree or strongly disagree to questions 10 and 11, it can be concluded the K-5 regular education teachers use consistent routines and procedures, they establish areas defined for specific purposes, and they minimize distractions in their classrooms. The responses collected regarding individualized programming were more dispersed than those for supportive culture/climate and structured environment. To establish whether K-5 regular educators can individualize programming for students with ASD, questions 13, 14, 15, 16, and 17 on the survey instrument were analyzed. Question 13 asked, "I have the skills to effectively teach a student with Autism Spectrum Disorder to attend to and respond to a particular task, activity, or individual." Thirty educators responded to question 13, with slightly more educators (57%) reporting they have skills to teach attention to a task, activity, or individual. Conversely, out of the 30 educators reporting, 43% stated they do not have these skills.

Question 14 on the survey instrument also focused on individualized programming. Question 14 stated, "I have the skills to effectively teach a student with Autism Spectrum Disorder imitation." After analyzing the 30 educator responses, there were slightly more educators (53%) who reported they do not have the skills to teach imitation, while 47% of the educators reported they do have the necessary skills to teach imitation to a student with ASD. Question 15 asked the K-5 educators to rate the following: "I know how to gain, maintain, and shift the attention of a student with Autism Spectrum Disorder." After reviewing the 30 responses to question 15, 53% of the educators reported they have the knowledge to gain, maintain, and shift the attention of a student with ASD, and 47% stated they do not have the knowledge.

Question 16 focused on determining whether regular educators could address receptive and expressive language deficits. Question 16 on the survey instrument read, "I know how to address the communication needs of students (receptive and expressive language skills) in my classroom." The results from question 16 indicated 63% of the 30 regular educators have the skills to address communication deficits in students with ASD. Thirty-seven percent of the educators stated they do not have the proficiencies to effectively teach communication skills. More K-5 regular educators reported they have the expertise to teach receptive and expressive language skills to students with ASD than those who reported they do not have this expertise.

Last, question 17 focused on individualized programming. Question 17 stated, "If a student is not willing or lacks the social skills to actively participate in the daily routines and classroom activities, I know how to teach the student how to actively participate." After analyzing the information gathered from question 17, 67% of the 30 regular educators stated they could address social deficits and encourage participation in students with ASD, while 33% of the educators reported they do not have the skills to address social and participation deficits in students with ASD. Most of the K-5 educators contributing to this study (67%) reported they do have the necessary skills to address deficits in the areas of social ability and task completion.

Question 34 of the survey instrument also focused on individualized programming. The question listed the following 17 evidence-based practices that are effective for students with ASD, and the educators were asked to circle the practices they could use and implement: differentiated instruction, structured environment, visual schedules, visual and organization tools, cooperative learning, pivotal response treatment, discrete trial training, social stories, applied behavior analysis, picture exchange system, scaffolding/task analysis, positive behavior supports, sensory supports, social skills education, visual/verbal cues, prompting, and addressing communication (receptive/expressive). Of the 30 educators responding to question 34, at least 80% of the
educators reported they could use and implement the following evidence-based practices: differentiated instruction, structured environment, visual schedules, cooperative learning, positive behavior support, and visual/verbal cues. Conversely, 30% or fewer educators listed they were able to implement or teach the following: pivotal response treatment, discrete trial-training, applied behavior analysis, picture exchange system, and communication (receptive/expressive).

The fourth evidence-based practice analyzed was ongoing assessments, and questions 18 and 19 were used to determine whether K-5 educators regularly use ongoing assessments. Question 18 on the survey instrument stated, "I regularly collect data and conduct ongoing assessments to address the individual needs of students in my classroom." In analyzing question 18, 100% of the regular education teachers strongly agreed or agreed they conduct ongoing assessments to meet the specific needs of students. Question 19 was, "When a student in my classroom has had difficulty in settings other than my classroom, I have conducted observations/assessments within other settings." When analyzing question 19, if the student is having difficulty in other settings, 57% of the 30 K-5 educators reported they would conduct observations and assessments in settings other than the classroom. The other 43% reported they would not regularly conduct observations and assessments outside of the classroom if a student was having difficulty.

The area of supports and collaboration was another evidence-based practice analyzed, and questions 20 and 27 on the survey instrument were used to determine whether K-5 regular educators are supported and have opportunity for collaboration. Question 20 stated, "My administrator is knowledgeable in teaching students with Autism Spectrum Disorder and provides the support and resources when needed." When reviewing question 20, 23 educators (77%) reported they strongly agree or agree their administrator is knowledgeable in teaching students with ASD and provides support and resources, while seven (23%) reported they disagree to question 20. Question 27 on the survey instrument was, "There is collaboration, in my building, with the special education teacher and other team members to effectively provide support for teaching students with Autism Spectrum Disorder." Of the 30 educators responding to question 27, 26 (87%) strongly agreed or agreed they have opportunities to collaborate with team members. Four educators (13%) reported they are not offered opportunities to collaborate. Overall, most of the K-5 regular education teachers surveyed reported they are supported and have opportunities for collaboration.

Sansosti and Sansosti (2012) emphasized the importance of professional development for the inclusion of students with ASD to be successful. Questions six and seven on the survey were used to determine whether K-5 regular educators have had sufficient ongoing training in evidence-based practices. Question six, which was answered by 30 educators, asked, "I have received sufficient training that has prepared me to effectively educate students with Autism Spectrum Disorder." In analyzing the responses to question six, 23 educators (77%) reported they disagree or strongly disagree to receiving sufficient training in effectively educating students with ASD. Seven educators (23%) agreed they have received sufficient training. Question seven on the survey instrument stated, "I am provided ongoing training from my district regarding evidence-based practices that address the needs of students with Autism Spectrum Disorder." After reviewing the 30 responses to question seven, 26 K-5 regular education

teachers (87%) disagreed or strongly disagreed and four (13%) agreed to receiving ongoing training in evidence-based practices that are effective for students with ASD. Overall, after analyzing questions six and seven, most of the K-5 regular education teachers reported they have not received sufficient training or ongoing training in evidence-based practices for effectively educating students with ASD.

In addition to being important, professional development should also be ongoing, according to the research completed by Mueller and Brewer (2013). Question 31 on the survey instrument was an open-ended question and asked the following: "Explain what kind of training you have received at the collegiate level or from your district for effectively educating students with Autism Spectrum Disorder." The responses to question 31 were consistent with the responses from questions six and seven. Twentythree K-5 educators completed question 31 on the survey instrument, with two (9%)stating they have received training from the district in which they work. Therefore, 21 educators (91%) did not state they have received training from the district. Additionally, 12 of the 23 educators (52%) reported the training received was through college courses, and six (26%) reported collaboration with the special education teacher was the only training they had received. Overall, after analyzing question 31, the K-5 regular education teachers have received training at the collegiate level and have received additional assistance from the building special education teacher; however, most of the educators reporting have not received training from the urban school district in Missouri where this research was conducted.

Another evidence-based practice investigated was flexible curriculum, and questions eight, 12, 21, 22, and 23 on the survey were utilized to determine whether K-5

regular education teachers are flexible with the curriculum in their classrooms. Question eight was, "In my classroom, I group students according to learning preferences, strengths, and interests. I am flexible with the curriculum to accommodate for individual differences." After analyzing the responses to question eight, 100% of the K-5 regular education teachers strongly agreed or agreed they group students according to preferences, strengths, and interests.

Flexibility was also the focus of Question 12. Question 12 stated, "I am flexible with my instruction methods and assessments to address learning differences to ensure all students are reaching their attainable goals." Additionally, 100% of the 30 regular education teachers participating in the survey strongly agreed or agreed they are flexible with their instructional methods and assessments. Question 21 on the survey instrument was, "In my classroom I present information in a variety of different ways." After reviewing the 30 responses to question 21, 100% of the regular educators strongly agreed or agreed they present information using a variety of methods.

Question 22 addressed flexibility by addressing differentiation. Question 22 on the survey stated the following: "In my classroom, I allow students to express their knowledge of the content in different ways." Of the 30 responses, 100% of the educators strongly agreed or agreed they allow students to express their knowledge using different methods.

Question 23 was the final question on the survey instrument that addressed flexible curriculum. The question was, "In my classroom, I get and maintain the attention of learners through hooks, and teach using hands-on, visual, and auditory activities (learning is interesting, challenging, and authentic)." With 30 responses to question 23, 100% of the educators reported they use hooks, hands-on activities, and visual and auditory activities to maintain the attention of students. Since there were no K-5 regular education teachers who disagreed or strongly disagreed to questions eight, 12, 21, 22, or 23, 100% of the 30 educators reported they utilize a flexible curriculum in their classroom.

Data analysis of survey responses for research question two. The focus of research question two was in determining whether a task force for inclusion had been established in the urban school district in Missouri where this study was conducted. Question 33 on the survey instrument was an open-ended question and addressed research question two. Question 33 stated the following: "If a task force for inclusion has been established in your school district please describe it. If not please describe what a task force should involve." Sixteen of the 30 educators who contributed to this research answered question 33 on the survey instrument with two K-5 educators (13%) stating a task forced had been established, 11 (69%) reported no task force had been established, and three (19%) reported not knowing whether a task force had been established. Overall, of the 16 K-5 regular education teachers who answered question 33, most (69%) reported no task force had been established within the urban school district in Missouri where this research was conducted. Additionally, in analyzing the data, most of the 16 educators reported a task force includes educators and administrators whose goal is to provide support and training to educators with students who have special needs. Although it was reported a task force had not been established within the urban school district in Missouri where this research was conducted, the K-5 regular education teachers do have an understanding of the definition of a task force and of the key players involved.

Additional information from data analysis of survey responses. Both Busby et al. (2012) and Hendricks (2011) reported regular educators believe educating students with ASD is challenging because of the additional preparation time that is needed, the complex deficits students with ASD exhibit, and because of the specialized educator skills required. Question 30 of the survey instrument was an open-ended question and asked, "If you have taught students with Autism Spectrum Disorder in your classroom, explain the biggest challenge and what areas you needed more training." There were 20 K-5 educators who responded to question 30, and the task of addressing the needs of 20 to 25 students when a student requires individualized attention was reported by seven educators as being the biggest challenge when educating a student with ASD. Other themes that were noted as challenges from question 30 were social challenges, communication needs, complex/disruptive behaviors, additional collaboration time, requirement of specialized skills, understanding the thought processes of students with ASD, and attention to task. In analyzing the data, the following were themes reported by the 30 K-5 educators that were the same as those reported by Busby et al. and Hendricks as the reasons regular educators believe educating students with ASD is challenging: additional collaboration time needed, deficits ASD students exhibit, and the requirement of specialized skills.

Bandura (1997) emphasized competence requires skills and the confidence to use the skills well. In analyzing the survey results, the K-5 regular educators participating in this study reported they have the skills to establish a supportive culture in their classroom, and they provide support to students when there is a specific need. The educators also stated they have the skills to establish consistent routines and implement consistent procedures, to conduct ongoing assessments, and to implement a flexible curriculum.

However, when investigating individualized programming or the core skills students with ASD need to learn, develop, and gain independence, the K-5 educators participating in this study were not as confident in their abilities. The core skills that must be taught to students with ASD, according to Barton and Harn (2012), are the following: imitation, attention to relevant stimuli, joint attention, participation in daily routines, communication skills, and social skills. In reviewing the data from question 13 of the survey instrument, slightly less than half of the K-5 educators (43%) reported they do not have the skills to teach attention to task or the ability to gain, maintain, and shift the attention of a student with ASD (47%), which was information analyzed from question 15. From the information gathered from question 14 of the survey instrument, slightly more than half of the regular education teachers (53%) reported they do not have the skills to teach imitation. Whereas, in analyzing questions 16 and 17, 63% of the 30 educators reported they have the skills to teach receptive and expressive language skills, and 67% of the K-5 regular education teachers reported they have the skills to teach social skills.

Additionally, in analyzing question 34 of the survey instrument, 75% or more of the K-5 educators participating in this study reported they can use or successfully implement the following evidence-based practices: differentiated instruction (97%), create a structured environment (83%), visual schedules (87%), cooperative learning (97%), positive behavior supports (80%), sensory supports (83%), visual/verbal cues (80%), and prompting (77%). Conversely, the following evidence-based practices were

103

reported by very few educators as practices they could use or implement successfully: pivotal response treatment (3%), discrete trial training (0%), social stories (30%), applied behavior analysis (7%), picture exchange system (13%), social skills education (30%), and receptive expressive language skills (7%). After an in-depth review of the data, the K-5 educators contradicted themselves regarding their abilities to effectively teach social skills and communication skills to students with ASD. From the information gathered from questions 16 and 17, slightly more than 60% of the K-5 educators participating in this study reported they could teach communication and social skills to students with ASD, whereas the information gathered from question 34 indicated the educators did not have the skills to successfully teach social or communication skills.

Along with the skills, Bandura (1997) emphasized confidence in using the skills. Questions 25 and 26 on the survey were developed to determine whether the K-5 regular education teachers believe they have the skills and confidence to effectively educate students with ASD. Question 25 stated, "I am confident I can help all of the students in my classroom reach their full potential, including those with Autism Spectrum Disorder." Of the 30 educators responding to question 25, 28 K-5 educators (93%) strongly agreed or agreed they were confident they could help all students, including those with ASD. Question 26 asked, "I have an understanding of the characteristics associated with Autism Spectrum Disorder (social difficulties, inability to make connections/draw conclusions, attention difficulties, behavioral difficulties, and sensory impairments), and I have the skills and knowledge to address these issues in my classroom." Of the 30 educator responses, 20 educators (67%) reported they have the skills to address the characteristics associated with ASD. Bandura (1997) also emphasized individuals with a strong sense of personal selfefficacy are persistent in their endeavors when challenges are presented. Questions 24 and 28 were utilized to determine whether K-5 regular educators are persistent during challenging situations. Question 24 read, "When faced with problems in my classroom, I view them as challenges that have to be mastered." Twenty-nine (97%) of the 30 educators strongly agreed or agreed to viewing problems as challenges that have to be mastered. Question 28 stated, "When I implement a strategy/accommodation in my classroom and it does not work, I plan an alternate strategy and learn through my experience." All 30 of the regular education teachers who responded to question 28 strongly agreed or agreed they implement alternate strategies and learn through their experiences when a strategy or accommodation does not work. Overall, most of the K-5 educators participating in this study view problems as challenges that must be mastered and implement alternative strategies when the first plan does not work.

Finally, according to the National Council for Special Education (2011), curriculum implemented within an inclusive setting should be whole-school planned, differentiated, enjoyable, and should include evidence-based practices. Additionally, the National Council for Special Education also emphasized the need for grouping according to abilities, interests, and strengths. With specific criteria for implementing curriculum within an inclusive setting, it was important to determine whether K-5 educators had knowledge of the suggested criteria. Question 32 on the survey stated, "Explain the understanding you have of the recommended criteria for curriculum implementation in inclusive settings." Out of the 30 educators participating in this study, 19 responded to question 32, and eight educators (42%) stated they do not know how curriculum should be implemented within an inclusive setting. Additionally, eight educators (42%) also reported differentiated instruction should be a part of the curriculum when educating students in an inclusive setting. In reviewing the responses to question 32, 11 of the 19 responses followed the guidelines established by the National Council for Special Education with the following responses aligning: differentiated instruction, structure, and meeting with team members.

### **Limitations of the Findings**

The limitations of this study originated from the research design selected by the researcher and the sample represented. Information was gathered from K-5 regular education teachers within only one urban school district in Missouri. Additionally, the sample was limited to 95 K-5 regular education teachers positioned at the four extreme directional locations (north, south, east, and west) and one centrally located. Since only 30 educators total completed the surveys, including only one educator from the school positioned at the east location, a representation of the population could be limited. The surveys were also distributed at the beginning of the school year when educators have high levels of prior commitments, which could have affected the sample size.

Another limitation was a survey was utilized to obtain information from educators regarding their perceptions of their own abilities. Since the responses were based on opinion and the surveys were completed anonymously without the presence of the researcher, inaccurate information could have been obtained due to response bias. Response bias occurs, according to Rubie-Davies and Hattie (2012), because one's personal characteristics and interests affect the way the individual answers questions. Additionally, the responses to the open-ended questions could not be explained by participants, since the educators completed the surveys privately. It is, however, an assumption the K-5 regular educators participating in this research answered the questions on the survey honestly and response bias did not occur. It was also an assumption that inclusion education varies across districts, but with certain criteria in place inclusion can be successful. A final assumption is professional development varies in quantity and quality across districts, but according to Dixon et al. (2014), there are proven guidelines that can improve the quality of professional development.

### Conclusions

While staying within the framework of the limitations presented with this study, the knowledge and understanding K-5 regular educators have in regard to best practices for educating students with ASD were investigated. Additionally, this study was designed to determine whether a task force for inclusion existed within the participating school district. Based on the questions that were addressed in the study, the research was descriptive in nature; therefore, a statistical analysis was not needed.

**Research question 1.** What knowledge and understanding of best practices do K-5 regular education teachers exhibit to address the individual needs of students with ASD in the following areas: supportive culture/climate, structured environment, individualized programming, ongoing assessments, supports and collaboration, professional development, and flexible curriculum?

The information collected from research questions six through 23 and questions 27, 29, 31, and 34 provided the descriptive data to answer research question one. Descriptive statistics describe data and assist with understanding one's attitudes and behaviors (Adams & Lawrence, 2015). Based on the data gathered, all of the participating

K-5 educators teaching in the urban school district in Missouri have established a supportive culture/climate, have organized and defined work areas, and use consistent routines within their classrooms. The information gathered also revealed all 30 of the K-5 regular education teachers regularly collect data and conduct ongoing assessments; are flexible with curriculum; and group students based on ability, interests, and strengths. All of the K-5 regular educators collect data and conduct ongoing assessments; however, only 17 of the 30 K-5 regular education teachers conduct observations and assessments outside of the classroom setting when a student is having difficulty.

The following core skills must be addressed within inclusive settings, according to Barton and Harn (2012), in order for students with ASD to meet their attainable goals: imitation, attention to relevant stimuli, joint attention, participation in daily routines, communication skills, and social skills. Based on the data, 14 of the 30 K-5 regular education teachers employed by the urban school district in Missouri can teach imitation to students with ASD, while 16 do not have the skills. Sixteen of the 30 educators can also maintain and shift the attention of a student with ASD, and 14 educators do not have the skills to complete this task. Students with ASD often have difficulty attending to tasks, and 13 of the 30 K-5 regular education teachers do not have the abilities to teach attention to task, while 17 educators have the skills to teach a student with ASD to engage in an activity or task (Denning & Moody, 2013). The data from question 16 revealed more of the K-5 regular educators have the skills to address communication deficits in students with ASD, with 19 of the 30 educators having the abilities. Additionally, 20 of the 30 K-5 educators working in the urban district in Missouri have the abilities to teach social skills to students with ASD according to question 17 on the

survey instrument. However, very few of the K-5 regular educators indicated they could teach social or communication skills to students with ASD on question 34 of the survey instrument.

When teaching a student with ASD within an inclusive setting, Odom et al. (2011) emphasized the need for support at the administrative level and for collaboration and preparation time with team members. The information gathered from the survey results revealed 23 of the 30 K-5 regular education teachers employed by the urban school district in Missouri are provided administrative support, and 26 of the 30 educators are provided opportunities for collaboration with team members. Professional development is also crucial and should be ongoing (Higginson & Chatfield, 2012). Most of the K-5 regular education teachers (23 out of 30) have not received sufficient training to adequately educate students with ASD and have not received ongoing training in evidence-based practices (26 out of 30). The analyzed data revealed only two out of the 23 K-5 education teachers reported having received ongoing training from the urban school district in Missouri, while 12 have only received training at the collegiate level.

**Research question 2.** What kind of task force for inclusion, if any, has been established?

According to Costley (2013), an inclusion task force composed of specialists should be available to assist regular educators responsible for teaching students with ASD. After analyzing the data, of the 16 K-5 regular education teachers responding to question 33, two reported a task force has been established in the urban school district in Missouri where this study was conducted. Although only two educators reported a task force has been established, most of the 16 educators answering question 33 did understand a task force is composed of educators and administrators whose goal is to support and train teachers who educate students with special needs.

### **Implications for Practice**

According to the survey results and descriptive statistics, the following practices would be beneficial for K-5 regular educators teaching students with ASD in learning environments that are inclusive:

1. Educators teaching students with ASD in learning environments that are inclusive need additional professional development opportunities in evidence-based practices for educating students with ASD. Barton and Harn (2012) suggested:

When professional development is offered as in-service training, colleagues can work together to take information learned and turn it into actual practice through peer coaching and follow-up consultation with trainers. This takes time and support, so working with administrators is essential in making sure practitioners have time set aside to observe peers, provide feedback to one another, and meet with consultants. (p. 272)

Professional development is a must if the competencies of educators teaching students with ASD are to improve (Barton & Harn).

2. Educators teaching students with ASD within inclusive settings need additional knowledge of how to teach the following core skills to students with ASD: imitation, attention to relevant stimuli, joint attention, participation in daily routines, communication skills, and social skills. Students with ASD have to be provided with opportunities to socialize, communicate, imitate, attend to relevant stimuli, understand nonverbal behaviors, and participate in daily routines within nonintrusive, nurturing, and highly structured settings (Barton & Harn, 2012). Hanbury (2012) stressed:

The majority of students with autism are now educated in mainstream provision and educators need to ensure that we can provide a meaningful, learner-focused programme for each individual by developing our curriculum and our practice to meet an ever-changing need. (p. 2)

Educators must be willing to teach the core skills related to the deficits exhibited by students with ASD if these students are to learn, function independently, and mature (Barton & Harn).

3. Teachers educating students with ASD within inclusive settings need additional information and opportunities for conducting observations and assessments outside of their classrooms. Magyar and Pandolfi (2012) stressed the need for progress motoring to assess the student's response to interventions and supports provided. The need to conduct observations outside of the classroom was also emphasized by Magyar and Pandolfi to determine whether the student with ASD is using the knowledge taught in other settings, or to determine whether a global effect is occurring.

4. A task force needs to be established to assist educators teaching students with ASD. Costley (2013) reported the need for an on-site task force to assist with the inclusion of students with ASD. Boston Public Schools (2014) emphasized a task force is important to improve education for all students. The inclusion task force developed by Boston Public Schools has initiated an inclusion plan that utilizes UDL, implements professional development through a tiered design, establishes integrated classrooms beginning at the lower elementary level, and provides on-site inclusion specialists. In

order to move to effectively integrating students with disabilities into the regular classroom, a task force must be established (Boston Public Schools).

5. Educators need additional understanding of how to address the characteristics associated with ASD (social difficulties, inability to make connections/draw conclusions, attention difficulties, behavioral difficulties, and sensory impairments). Bandura (1997) stressed the need for skills and emphasized confidence in using the skills. Bandura (1997) stated, "Effective functioning requires both skills and the efficacy beliefs to use them well" (p. 37).

### **Recommendations for Future Research**

Based on the information gathered from this study, several recommendations for future studies can be offered. One study that would be of importance would be to analyze the preparedness of regular educators at the middle school and high school levels and their abilities to effectively educate students with ASD using evidence-based practices. According to Szidon, Ruppar, and Smith (2015), the gap between the student with ASD and their peers in the area of social communication is often much bigger at the middle and high school levels. Studying middle school and high school teachers' abilities to address the social communication challenges of students with ASD could assist school districts in their endeavors to prepare students with ASD for transition out of middle school and high school.

Furthering this study to include a larger sample with focus on the regular education teachers' abilities and knowledge to teach core skills (imitation, attention to relevant stimuli, joint attention, participation in daily routines, communication skills, and social skills) to students with ASD would be beneficial. Barton and Harn (2012) emphasized students with ASD could not learn, independently function, or mature without being taught the above core skills. With more and more students with ASD being placed in the regular classroom setting, investigating the knowledge of K-5 educators to effectively teach the above core skills could not only be beneficial to school districts, but could also benefit students with ASD.

Investigating established inclusion task forces would be beneficial, since it is the responsibility of schools districts to educate all students. Costley (2013) stressed the need for an on-site task force to assist regular education teachers educating students with ASD. It could be beneficial to school districts to compare the characteristics of inclusion task forces within various districts. The similarities and differences could be investigated, along with the effectiveness. This could assist school districts in their endeavors to effectively educate all students.

A last suggestion would be to conduct a study and investigate the K-5 regular educators' confidence in using the skills they have in teaching students with ASD. Bandura (1997) noted without the confidence to use the skills one has, success cannot occur. If a study is conducted to determine the confidence regular educators have in implementing evidence-based practices specific for students with ASD, information could be provided to school districts on where the lack of confidence lies in order to provide additional information on areas of needed assistance.

### Summary

The purpose of this study was to investigate the level of knowledge and understanding K-5 regular education teachers have in regard to evidence-based practices that address the individual needs presented by students with ASD. This study also focused on determining whether an inclusion task force has been established in the district where this study was conducted. Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory established the importance of effective training for regular educators. It was determined K-5 regular education teachers have established supportive cultures/climates, provide defined work areas, and use consistent routines. Regular education teachers also regularly collect data; implement a flexible curriculum; and group students according to strengths, ability, and interests. It was also determined K-5 regular educators are supported by their administrators and have time for collaboration with team members. Regular education teachers, however, do not regularly conduct observations outside of the classroom setting, and they often lack the proficiencies to teach core skills (imitation, attention to relevant stimuli, joint attention, participation in daily routines, communication skills, and social skills) to students with ASD. In addition, K-5 regular education teachers have not received sufficient training or ongoing training in the area of evidence-based practices, and a task force for inclusion has not been established in the school district where this research was conducted.

This study can provide a foundation for additional studies. Questions were raised regarding the regular educators' confidence in their abilities to implement evidence-based practices along with the need for quality inclusion task forces so all students are receiving an adequate education. As inclusion for students with disabilities, including those with ASD, continues to expand, further studies will be needed to determine the support regular education teachers are receiving and the quality of education being provided.

### Appendix A

### **Survey Questions**

- 1. What is the location of your school?
  - North South East West Central
- 2. How many total years have you been teaching?
  - First year of teaching 1-5 years 6-10 years 11-15 years 16-20 years 21 years or more
- 3. What is the highest degree you have completed?
  - Bachelors Bachelors + 15 Masters Masters + 15 Ph.D/Ed.D
- 4. How many students with Autism Spectrum Disorder are you currently responsible for teaching?
  - 0 1 2 3 More than 3
- 5. During your years of teaching, how many students with Autism Spectrum Disorder have you been responsible for teaching?
  - 0 1-3 4-6 7-9 10 or more

- 6. I have received sufficient training that has prepared me to effectively educate students with Autism Spectrum Disorder.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 7. I am provided ongoing training from my district regarding evidence-based practices that address the needs of students with Autism Spectrum Disorder.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 8. In my classroom, I group students according to learning preferences, strengths, and interests. I am flexible with the curriculum to accommodate for individual differences.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 9. In my classroom, I have created a supportive culture where diversity is respected, students are supported unobtrusively, there are high expectations for all, and the unique gifts of students are celebrated.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 10. In my classroom, I use consistent routines and procedures that are communicated to students on a daily basis.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 11. In my classroom, areas are organized and defined for specific purposes, and auditory and physical distractions are minimized.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree

12. I am flexible with my instruction methods and assessments to address learning differences to ensure all students are reaching their attainable goals.

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree

13. I have the skills to effectively teach a student with Autism Spectrum Disorder to attend to and respond to a particular task, activity, or individual.

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree

14. I have the skills to effectively teach a student with Autism Spectrum Disorder imitation.

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree

15. I know how to gain, maintain, and shift the attention of a student with Autism Spectrum Disorder.

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree

16. I know how to address the communication needs of students (receptive and expressive language skills) in my classroom.

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree

17. If a student is not willing or lacks the social skills to actively participate in the daily routines and classroom activities, I know how to teach to student how to actively participate.

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree

- 18. I regularly collect data and conduct ongoing assessments to address the individual needs of students in my classroom.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 19. When a student in my classroom has had difficulty in settings other than my classroom, I have conducted observations/assessments within other settings.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 20. My administrator is knowledgeable in teaching students with Autism Spectrum Disorder and provides the support and resources when needed.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 21. In my classroom, I present information in a variety of different ways.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 22. In my classroom, I allow students to express their knowledge of the content in different ways.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 23. In my classroom, I get and maintain the attention of learners through hooks and teach using hands-on, visual, and auditory activities (learning is interesting, challenging, and authentic).
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree

- 24. When faced with problems in my classroom, I view them as challenges that have to be mastered.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 25. I am confident I can help all of the students in my classroom reach their full potential, including those with Autism Spectrum Disorder.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 26. I have an understanding of the characteristics associated with Autism Spectrum Disorder (social difficulties, inability to make connections/draw conclusions, attention difficulties, behavioral difficulties, and sensory impairments), and I have the skills and knowledge to address these issues in my classroom.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 27. There is collaboration, in my building, with the special education teacher and other team members to effectively provide support for teaching students with Autism Spectrum Disorder.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 28. When I implement a strategy/accommodation in my classroom and it does not work, I plan an alternate strategy and learn through my experience.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
- 29. In my classroom, I ensure all students are learning and provide additional support when it is needed.
  - Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree

- 30. If you have taught students with Autism Spectrum Disorder in your classroom, explain the biggest challenge and what areas you needed more training.
- 31. Explain what kind of training you have received at the collegiate level or from your district for effectively educating students with Autism Spectrum Disorder.
- 32. Explain the understanding you have of the recommended criteria for curriculum implementation in inclusive settings.
- 33. If a task force for inclusion has been established in your school district, please describe it. If not, please describe what a task force should involve.
- 34. Please circle the area(s) that you have knowledge and could use or implement in your classroom:

**Differentiated Instruction** Structured Environment **Visual Schedules** Visual and Organization Tools Cooperative Learning **Pivotal Response Treatment Discrete Trial-Training** Social Stories **Applied Behavior Analysis** Picture Exchange System Scaffolding/Task Analysis **Positive Behavior Supports** Sensory Supports Social Skills Education Visual/Verbal Cues Prompting Addressing Communication (Receptive/Expressive)

35. Of the above, which area(s) do you feel training is critical to effectively educate students with Autism Spectrum Disorder and why?

**Appendix B** 

# LINDENWOD

# LINDENWOOD UNIVERSITY ST. CHARLES, MISSOURI

| DATE:            | August 5, 2015                                                                                                       |
|------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| TO:              | Tammy Rhodes                                                                                                         |
| FROM:            | Lindenwood University Institutional Review Board                                                                     |
| STUDY TITLE:     | [769952-1] A Study of the Regular Educators' Preparedness to Educate<br>Students with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) |
| IRB REFERENCE #: |                                                                                                                      |
| SUBMISSION TYPE: | New Project                                                                                                          |
| ACTION:          | APPROVED                                                                                                             |
| APPROVAL DATE:   | August 5, 2015                                                                                                       |
| EXPIRATION DATE: | August 5, 2016                                                                                                       |
| REVIEW TYPE:     | Expedited Review                                                                                                     |

Thank you for your submission of New Project materials for this research project. Lindenwood University Institutional Review Board has APPROVED your submission. This approval is based on an appropriate risk/benefit ratio and a study design wherein the risks have been minimized. All research must be conducted in accordance with this approved submission.

 The sponsor indicated that she will email the school district approval letter. This letter should be uploaded to the project package. Data collection may not begin until this is completed.

This submission has received Expedited Review based on the applicable federal regulation.

Please remember that informed consent is a process beginning with a description of the study and insurance of participant understanding followed by a signed consent form. Informed consent must continue throughout the study via a dialogue between the researcher and research participant. Federal regulations require each participant receive a copy of the signed consent document. Please note that any revision to previously approved materials must be approved by this office prior to initiation. Please use the appropriate revision forms for this procedure.

All SERIOUS and UNEXPECTED adverse events must be reported to this office. Please use the appropriate adverse event forms for this procedure. All FDA and sponsor reporting requirements should also be followed.

All NON-COMPLIANCE issues or COMPLAINTS regarding this project must be reported promptly to the IRB.

This project has been determined to be a Minimal Risk project. Based on the risks, this project requires continuing review by this committee on an annual basis. Please use the completion/amendment form for this procedure. Your documentation for continuing review must be received with sufficient time for review and continued approval before the expiration date of August 5, 2016.

Please note that all research records must be retained for a minimum of three years.

If you have any questions, please contact Megan Woods at (636) 485-9005 or mwoods1@lindenwood.edu. Please include your study title and reference number in all correspondence with this office.

If you have any questions, please send them to <u>mwoods1@lindenwood.edu</u>. Please include your project title and reference number in all correspondence with this committee.

This letter has been electronically signed in accordance with all applicable regulations, and a copy is retained within Lindenwood University Institutional Review Board's records.

# Appendix C

| To:      | Tammy Rhodes                |
|----------|-----------------------------|
| From:    |                             |
| Date:    | August 4, 2015              |
| Subject: | Request to Conduct Research |

Your request to conduct research proposal titled, *A Study of the Regular Educators' Preparedness to Educate Students with Autism Spectrum Disorder*, submitted for consideration has been approved for submitted for consideration has been approved. Please understand this letter constitutes district approval, but the final decision for participation rests with each building principal. You will need to seek approval from each building principal before conducting your research.

Feel free to contact **at a second of** if you have questions or need additional information.

Manager, Quality Improvement and Accountability

### Appendix D

## Lindenwood University School of Education 209 S. Kingshighway St. Charles, Missouri 63301

### Informed Consent for Participation in Research Activities

"A Study of the Regular Educators' Preparedness to Educate Students with ASD"

Principal Investigator: Tammy Rhodes Telephone: (417) 299-3913 E-mail: TSR795@lindenwood.edu

Participant

Contact info

 You are invited to participate in a research study conducted by Tammy Rhodes under the guidance of Dr. Robyn Gordon. The purpose of this research is to determine the level of knowledge k-5 regular educators have in effectively educating students with Autism Spectrum Disorder using evidence-based practices and to determine whether a task force for inclusion has been established in your school district.

2. a) Your participation will involve the completion of a survey of your knowledge regarding best practices for effectively educating students with Autism Spectrum Disorder. The survey will also include questions about professional development and your knowledge of an established task force for inclusion in your school district. The survey will include both closed and open-ended questions.

In order to ensure confidentiality, please do not include your name on the survey.

If you choose to participate in this study, your survey will need to be returned to the assigned envelope located within the central office of your school within a week. The surveys will be collected one week after distribution.

b) The amount of time involved in your participation will be 10 to 15 minutes. Approximately100 k-5 regular educators will be involved in this research, and the research will include k-5 regular educators from five different elementary schools within one urban school district.

There are no anticipated risks associated with this research.

There are no direct benefits for you participating in this study. However, your
participation will contribute to the knowledge about the preparedness of regular
educators to effectively educate students with Autism Spectrum Disorder using
evidence-based practices.

124

- 5. Your participation is voluntary and you may choose not to participate in this research study or to withdraw your consent at any time. You may choose not to answer any questions that you do not want to answer. You will NOT be penalized in any way should you choose not to participate or to withdraw.
- 6. We will do everything we can to protect your privacy. As part of this effort, your identity will not be revealed in any publication or presentation that may result from this study, and the information collected will remain in the possession of the investigator in a safe location.

Each participant will receive the survey from a third party. After completing the survey, the participants will place completed surveys in an envelope, which will be monitored by the third party to assure anonymity. Although a small number of participants from each of the five schools will be asked to complete the survey, there is a slight possibility the identity of the participants may recognized by the Primary Investigator.

7. If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study, or if any problems arise, you may call the Investigator, (Tammy Rhodes @ 417-299-3913) or the Supervising Faculty, (Dr. Robyn Gordon @ 417-522-6658). You may also ask questions of or state concerns regarding your participation to the Lindenwood Institutional Review Board (IRB) by contacting Dr. Marilyn Abbott, Interim Provost, at mabbott@lindenwood.edu or 636-949-4912.

I have read this consent form and have been given the opportunity to ask questions. I may retain a copy of this consent form for my records. I consent to my participation in the research described above.

Participant's Signature

Date

Participant's Printed Name

Signature of Principal Investigator Date

Investigator Printed Name

### References

- Adams, K., & Lawrence, E. (2015). *Research methods, statistics, and applications*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Ahmad, I. (2011). Effect of teacher efficacy beliefs on motivation. *Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 21(2), 35-36.
- Ahsan, M., & Mullick, J. (2013). The journey towards inclusive education in Bangladesh: Lessons learned. *Prospects*, 43(2), 151-164.
- Allen, K., & Cowdery, G. (2012). The exceptional child: Inclusion in early childhood education. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth, Cengage Learning.
- Alquraini, T., & Gut, D. (2012). Critical components of successful inclusion of students with severe disabilities: Literature review. *International Journal of Special Education*, 27(1), 42-59.
- American Psychological Association. (2010). *Publication manual of the American Psychological Association* (6th ed.). Lancaster, PA: Author.
- Angelides, P., Savva, K., & Hajisoteriou, C. (2012). Leading inclusion: Special teachers as leaders in the development of inclusive education. *ISEA*, *40*(1), 75-88.
- Autism Speaks, Inc. (2013). Facts about autism. Retrieved from

http://www.autism speaks.org/what-autism/facts-about-autism

Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Bandura, A. (1995). Self-efficacy in changing societies. Cambridge, United

Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.

Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York, NY: Worth Publishers.

- Barton, E., & Harn, B. (2012). *Educating young children with autism spectrum disorders*.Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press, Inc.
- Berger, A. (2014). *Media and communication research methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Bland-Stewart, L., Townsend, A., Ortega, T., & Stewart, A. (2013). What the beginning speech-language pathologist and educator need to know about autism spectrum disorders. *Online Journal of Educational Research*, 2(4), 57-65.
- Bondy, A., & Weiss, M. J. (2013). *Teaching social skills to people with autism: Best practices in individualizing interventions*. Bethesda, MD: Woodbine House, Inc.
- Bordelon, T., Phillips, I., Parkison, P., Thomas, J., & Howell, C. (2012). Teacher efficacy: How teachers rate themselves and how students rate their teachers. *Action in Teacher Education*, 34(1), 14-25. doi:10.1080/01626620.2012.642282
- Boston Public Schools. (2014). Inclusion and universal design: Supporting all students. Retrieved from http://www.bostonpublicschools.org/cms/lib07/MA01906464/ Centricity/Domain/249/Inclusion%20and%20Universal%20Design%201%209%2 014.pdf
- Braunsteiner, M., & Mariano-Lapidus, S. (2014). A perspective of inclusion: Challenges for the future. *Global Education Review*, *1*(1), 32-43.
- Busby, R., Ingram, R., Bowron, R., Oliver, J., & Lyons, B. (2012). Teaching elementary children with autism: Addressing teacher challenges and preparation needs. *Rural Educator*, 33(2), 27-35.

- Cameron, D., & Cook, B. (2013). General education teachers' goals and expectations for their included students with mild and severe disabilities. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 48(1), 18-30.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2012). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders – Autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 14 sites, United States, 2008. *Surveillance Summaries, 61*(SSo3), 1-19. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/ss6103a1.htm
- Choy, L. (2014). The strengths and weaknesses of research methodology: Comparison and complimentary between qualitative and quantitative approaches. *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences, 19*(4), 99-104.
- Constable, S., Grossi, B., Moniz, A., & Ryan, L. (2013). Meeting the Common Core state standards for students with autism: The challenge for educators. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 45(3), 6-13.
- Cook, B., & Odom, S. (2013). Evidence-based practices and implementation science in special education. *Council for Exceptional Children*, 79(2), 135-144.
- Costley, K. (2013). Ongoing professional development: The prerequisite for and continuation of successful inclusion meeting the academic needs of special students in public schools (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ERIC. (ED541075)

Creswell, J. (2014). Research design. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.

- Darretxe, L., & Sepulveda, L. (2011). Educational strategies to address the educational needs of students with Asperger syndrome in the mainstream classroom. *Electronic Journal of Research in Educational Psychology*, 9(2), 869-892.
- Darrow, A. (2015). Differentiated instruction for students with disabilities: Using DI in the music classroom. *General Music Today*, 28(2), 29-32.

Delmolino, L., & Harris, S. (2011). Matching children on the autism spectrum to classrooms: A guide for parents and professionals. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 42(6), 1197-1204.

- Denning, C., & Moody, A. (2013). Supporting students with autism spectrum disorders in inclusive settings: Rethinking instruction and design. *Electronic Journal for Inclusive Education*, 3(1), 1-21.
- Dicke, T., Parker, P., Marsh, H., Kunter, M., Schmeck, A., & Leutner, D. (2014). Selfefficacy in classroom management, classroom disturbances, and emotional exhaustion: A moderated mediation analysis of teacher candidates. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *106*(2), 569-583. doi:10.1037/a0035504
- Dieker, L. (2013). *Demystifying secondary inclusion: Powerful schoolwide & classroom strategies.* Port Chester, NY: Dude Publishing.
- Dierking, R. C., & Fox, R. F. (2013). "Changing the way I teach" Building teacher knowledge, confidence, and autonomy. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 64(2), 129-144.
- Dimopoulou, E. (2012). Self efficacy and collective efficacy beliefs of teachers for children with autism. *Literacy Information and Computer Education Journal*, 3(1), 509-520.

- Dixon, F., Yssel, N., McConnell, J., & Hardin, T. (2014). Differentiated instruction, professional development, and teacher efficacy. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, *37*(2), 111-127.
- Donaldson, A., & Stahmer, A. (2014). Team collaboration: The use of behavior principles for serving students with ASD. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 45(4), 261-276.
- Eveleth, R. (2011). The hidden potential of autistic kids. *Scientific American*. Retrieved from http://www.scientificamerican.com/article/the-hiddenpotential-of-autistic-kids/
- Ferraioli, S., & Harris, S. (2011). Effective educational inclusion of students on the autism spectrum. *Journal of Contemporary Psychology*, 41(1), 19-28. doi:10.1007/s10879-010-9156-y
- Fink, A. (2013). *How to conduct surveys: A step-by-step guide*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Ganz, J. B. (2014). Aided augmentative communication for individuals with autism spectrum disorders. In J. Matson (Ed.), *Autism and Child Psychopathology Series* (pp. 13-30). New York, NY: Springer Science + Business Media. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-0814-1
- Grandin, T., & Panek, R. (2013). *The autistic brain: Helping different kinds of minds succeed*. New York, NY: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt Publishing Company.
- Gulec-Aslan, Y. (2013). A training programme for a teacher working with a student with ASD: An action research. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, *13*(4), 2229-2246. doi:10.12738/estp.2013.4.1738

- Hall, T., Meyer, A., & Rose, D. (2012). Universal design for learning in the classroom.New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Hanbury, M. (2012). *Educating students on the autistic spectrum: A practical guide*.Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Hart, J., & Malian, I. (2013). A statewide survey of special education directors on teacher preparation and licensure requirements in autism spectrum disorders. *International Journal of Special Education*, 28(1), 1-10.
- He, Y. (2014). Universal design for learning in an online teacher education course:
   Enhancing learners' confidence to teach online. *Journal of Online Learning* and Teaching, 10(2), 283-298.
- Hendricks, D. (2011). Special education teachers serving students with autism: A descriptive study of the characteristics and self-reported knowledge and practices employed. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitations*, 35(1), 37-50. doi:10.3233/JVr-2011-0552
- Higginson, R., & Chatfield, M. (2012). Together we can do it: A professional development project for regular teachers' of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Kairaranga*, 13(2), 29-40.
- Hill, D., & Hill, S. (2012). Autism spectrum disorder, Individuals with Disabilities
  Education Act, and case laws: Who really wins? *Preventing School Failure*, 56(3), 157-164.

- Hill, D., Martin, E., & Nelson-Head, C. (2011). Examination of case law (2007-2008) regarding autism spectrum disorder and violations of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. *Preventing School Failure*, 55(4), 214-225. doi:10.1080/1045988X.2010.542784
- Hill, D., & Sukbunpant, S. (2013). The comparison of special education between
  Thailand and the United States: Inclusion and support for children with autism spectrum disorder. *International Journal of Special Education*, 28(1), 120-134.
- Hoddenbach, E., Koot, H., Clifford, P., Gevers, C., Clauser, C., Boer, F., & Begeer, S.
  (2012). Individual differences in the efficacy of a short theory of mind intervention for children with autism spectrum disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *Trials*, *12*(206), 1-7.
- Holzberger, D., Philipp, A., & Kunter, M. (2013). How teachers' self-efficacy is related to instructional quality: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *105*(3), 774-786. doi:10.1037/a0032198
- Iftikhar, A. (2011). Effect of teacher efficacy beliefs on motivation. *Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 21(2), 35-46.
- Ingersoll, B. (2012). Brief report: Effect of a focused imitation intervention on social functioning in children with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42(8), 1768-1773. doi:10.1007/s10803-011-1423-6
- Kaweski, W. (2011). Making a difference for students with ASD. *Principal Leadership*, *12*(3), 19-24.
- Kent, R., Carrington, S., LeCouteur, A., Gould, J., Wing, L., Malijaars, J., ... Leekam, S. (2013). Diagnosing autism spectrum disorder: Who will get a DSM-5 diagnosis? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 54(11), 1242-1250. doi:10.1111/jcpp.12085
- Koegel, L., Matos-Fredeen, R., Lang, R., & Koegel, R. (2011). Interventions for children with autism spectrum disorders in inclusive school settings. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 19(3), 401-412. doi:10.1016/j.cbpra.2010.11.003
- Kryzak, L., & Jones, E. (2014). The effect of prompts within embedded circumscribed interests to teach initiating joint attention in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities*, *12*(3), 1-20. doi:10.1007/s10882-014-9414-0
- Kunter, M., Klusmann, U., Baumert, J., Richter, D., Voss, T., & Hachfeld, A. (2013).
  Professional competence of teachers: Effects on instructional quality and student development. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *105*(3), 805-820.
  doi:10.1037/a0032583
- Kurt, O. (2011). A comparison of discrete trial teaching with and without gestures/signs in teaching receptive language skills to children with autism. *Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice*, 11(3), 1436-1444.

Lamport, M., Graves, L., & Ward, A. (2012). Special needs students in inclusive classrooms: The impact of social interaction on educational outcomes for learners with emotional and behavioral disabilities. *European Journal of Business and Social Sciences*, 1(5), 54-69.

- Liu, P. (2013). Great Toronto area (GTA) teachers' perspectives on teacher efficacy. International Studies in Educational Administration, 40(3), 75-89.
- Lowry, L. (2014). Imitation with children on the autism spectrum: More than just a game of copycat. Retrieved from The Hanen Centre website: www.hanen.org/SiteAssets/Helpful-Info/Articles/Imitation-with-Children-on-the-Autism-Spectrum.aspx
- Lubetsky, M., Handen, B., & McGonigle, J. (2011). *Autism spectrum disorder*. Oxford, NY: Oxford University Press. doi:10.1093/med/9780/99753857.001.0001
- Magyar, C., & Pandolfi, V. (2012). Considerations for establishing a multi-tiered problem-solving model for students with autism spectrum disorders and comorbid emotional-behavioral disorders. *Psychology in the Schools*, 49(10), 975-987. doi:10.1002/pits.21645
- Marder, T., & Debettencourt, L. (2012). Using a hybrid model to prepare special educators to teach students identified with ASD. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, *31*(3), 12-23.
- McCulloch, E., & Martin, J. (2011). Where are the autism teaching competencies? *Education Week*, *31*(4), 27.
- McGhie-Richmond, D., & Sung, A. (2013). Applying universal design for learning to instructional lesson planning. *International Journal of Whole Schooling*, 9(1), 43-59.

- McGuire, A., & Michalko, R. (2011). Minds between us: Autism, mindblindness and the uncertainty of communication. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 43(2), 162-177. doi:10.1111/j.1469-5812.2009.00537
- Meyer, A., Rose, D., & Gordon, D. (2014). Universal design for learning: Theory and practice. Wakefield, MA: CAST Professional Publishing.
- Mueller, T., & Brewer, R. (2013). Rethinking professional development in rural communities for students with autism spectrum disorder. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 32(3), 11-19.
- The National Council for Special Education. (2011). *Annual report 2011*. Retrieved from http://ncse.ie/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/Annual\_Report\_accessible\_version.pdf
- Nishimura, T. (2014). Effective professional development of teachers: A guide to actualizing inclusive schooling. *International Journal of Whole Schooling*, *10*(1), 19-42.
- Nuske, H., & Bavin, E. (2011). Narrative comprehension in 4-7-year-old children with autism: Testing the weak central coherence account. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 46(1), 108-119. doi:10:3109/13682822.2010.484847
- Obiakor, F., Harris, M., Mutua, K., Rotatori, A., & Algozzine, B. (2012). Making inclusion work in general education classrooms. *Education and Treatment of Children*, *35*(3), 477-490.

 O'Bryant, S., Falkowski, J., Hobson, V., Johnson, L., Hall, J., Schrimsher, G., ...
 Dentinom A. (2011). Executive functioning mediates the link between other neuropsychological domains and daily functioning: A project frontier study.
 *International Psychogeriatrics*, 23(1), 107-113. doi:10.1017/S1041610210000967

- Odom, S., Buysse, V., & Soukakou, E. (2011). Inclusion for young children with disabilities: A quarter century of research perspectives. *Journal of Early Intervention*, *33*(4), 344-356.
- Ohtani, K., Okada, R., Ito, T., & Nakaya, M. (2013). A multilevel analysis of classroom goal structures' effects on intrinsic motivation and peer modeling: Teachers' promoting interaction as a classroom level mediator. *Psychology*, 4(8), 629-637.
  Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1429825794?
  accountid=12104
- Oluwatayo, J. (2012). Validity and reliability issues in educational research. *Journal of Educational and Social Research*, 2(2), 391-399.

Palm, M. (2012). First, do no harm. Phi Delta Kappan, 94(4), 13-15.

- Roebers, C., Cimeli, P., Rothlisberger, M., & Neuenschwander, R. (2012). Executive functioning, metacognition, and self-perceived competence in elementary school children: An explorative study on their interrelations and their role for school achievement. *Metacognition Learning*, 7(3), 151-173. doi:10.1007/s11409-012-9089-9
- Rose, D., & Meyer, A. (2002). *Teaching every student in the digital age*. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.

- Rosenthal, M., Lawson, R., Dixon, E., Wallace, G., Wills, M., Yerys, B., & Kenworthy,
  L. (2013). Impairments in real-world executive function increase from childhood to adolescence in autism spectrum disorders. *Neuropsychology*, 27(1), 13-18.
- Rubie-Davies, C. M., & Hattie, J. C. (2012). The dangers of extreme positive responses in Likert scales administered to young children. *International Journal of Educational and Psychological Assessment*, 11(1), 75-89.
- Ruppar, A. (2013). Authentic literacy and communication in inclusive settings for students with significant disabilities. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 46(2), 44-50.
- Ryan, J. B., Hughes, E. M., Katsiyannis, A., McDaniel, M., & Sprinkle, C. (2011). Research-based educational practices for students with autism spectrum disorders. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 43(3), 56-64.
- Salkind, N. (2011). *Statistics for people who think they hate statistics*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Sansosti, J. M., & Sansosti, F. J. (2012). Inclusion for students with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders: Definitions and decision making. *Psychology in the Schools*, 49(10), 917-931.
- Schietecatte, I., Roeyers, H., & Warreyn, P. (2012). Exploring the nature of joint attention impairments in young children with autism spectrum disorder:
  Associated social and cognitive skills. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42(1), 1-12. doi:10.1007/s10803-011-1209-x
- Smith, K. (2015). Factors related to middle school teachers' self-efficacy in inclusion classrooms. Virginia Beach, VA: Dawn D. Boyer.

- Stephanou, G., Gkavras, G., & Doulkeridou, M. (2013). The role of teachers' self- and collective-efficacy beliefs on their job satisfaction and experienced emotions in school. *Psychology*, 4(3), 268-278.
- Strain, P., & Bovey, E. (2011). Randomized, controlled trial of the LEAP model of early intervention for young children with autism spectrum disorders. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 31(3), 133-154.
- Strain, P., Wilson, K., & Dunlap, G. (2011). Prevent-teach-reinforce: Addressing problem behaviors of students with autism in general education classrooms. *Behavior Disorders*, 36(3), 160-171.
- Szidon, K., Ruppar, A., & Smith, L. (2015). Developing effective transition plans for high school students with autism spectrum disorder. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 47(3), 147-152. doi:10.1177/0040059914559780

Tomlinson, C. (2014). The differentiated classroom. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.

- Torres, C., Farley, C., & Cook, B. (2012). A special educator's guide to successfully implementing evidence-based practices. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 45(1), 64-73.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., Wolfolk Hoy, A., & Hoy, W. (1998). Teacher efficacy: Its meaning and measure. *Review of Educational Research*, 69(2), 202-248.

The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. (2009). *Policy* guidelines on inclusion in education. Retrieved from http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0017/001778/177849e.pdf

U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2013). *The Digest of Education Statistics, 2012* (NCES 2014-015).

- Vera, M., LeBlanc, P., Taris, T., & Salanova, M. (2014). Patterns of engagement: The relationship between efficacy beliefs and task engagement at the individual versus collective level. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 44(2), 133-144.
- Watts-Taffe, S., Laster, B. P., Broach, L., Marinak, B., McDonald Connor, C., & Walker-Dalhouse, D. (2012). Differentiated instruction: Making informed teacher decisions. *The Reading Teacher*, 66(4), 303-314.
- Whitmer, R. (2013). Adapting K12 for students with autism. *District Administration*, 49(1), 30-32.

Winters, M. (2012). How to grade teachers. National Affairs, 13(1), 61-76.

## Vita

Tammy Rhodes currently works as a special education teacher for the Springfield R-XII School District. Her current responsibilities consist of individually designing lesson plans for K-5 special education students and maintaining accurate and complete special education records. She graduated from Evangel University with a Bachelor's of Science in Psychology and Social Science Education in December of 1994 and with a Master's of Education in 2004 from Drury University.